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Foreword by the
Executive Mayor
of Nelson Mandela Bay

As the Executive Mayor of Nelson Mandela Bay, it gives me great pleasure to congratulate the
Mandela Bay Development Agency, board, management, and employees on yet again attaining
an unqualified audit outcome from the Auditor General of South Africa for the period July 2019 to
June 2020. It is indeed a significant achievement, considering the tough operating environment
the agency operates in, as well as the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic with four months of hard
lockdown to end the financial year.
I am also mindful that a lot of work lies ahead, our local
economy, public infrastructure, and social conditions need
greater attention. The skills, experience, and the capacity
at the MBDA can be, and will be called upon to do more to
contribute to improving services and access to opportunities
for all the people of Nelson Mandela Bay.
When Covid-19 hit us, the MBDA was able to reconfigure
itself, repurpose its operations at the Nelson Mandela
Bay Stadium and delivered the most successful Covid-19
isolation facility on the African continent, a complement
conveyed by several international news agencies. This
conversion of the Bay stadium to a Covid-19 isolation and
quarantine facility by the MBDA, strengthened the fight
against covid-19, and most importantly, it became a lifeline
for those who had no means to self-quarantine, and isolate.
We commend the leadership of the MBDA for being agile
and responsive to the needs of the City.
The revitalisation of the Bay’s economy, the development of
vibrant tourism infrastructure, and leveraging of underutilized
City assets are some of the issues we will be looking to
engage the MBDA on. We know how it came to be that an
old, dilapidated Tramway’s building was turned into a vibrant
events space for markets, small business opportunities,

training facilities for the youth and an attraction for greater
investment into the Baakens Valley.
We can also see the turnaround in maintenance and
upgrades at the iconic Nelson Mandela Bay Stadium, a tenyear-old facility that is being given new life, and modernised
to take advantages, post pandemic. My message to the
MBDA is this, roll up your sleeves because we shall not rest
until we achieve the vision set by our forebears, to deliver a
better life for all.
In conclusion, it is our hope that the work of this important
institution is supported, promoted, and that the agency
is given the space to deliver on its mandate. As the
Executive Mayor, I will do all that is within my powers to
provide support, promote good governance and demand
accountability.

Cllr Nqaba Bhanga
Executive Mayor

My message to the
MBDA is this, roll
up your sleeves
because we shall
not rest until
we achieve the
vision set by our
forebears, to
deliver a better
life for all.
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Chairperson’s
Report
The Constitution of South Africa envisages Municipal Entities as independent organisations that
perform municipal services on behalf of a municipality and the municipality controls the majority
shareholding. According to the Institute of Directors of South Africa (IoDSA) “Board members
of a Municipal Owned Entities are required to ensure that they meet a complex set of demands
including the strategic aims of the Entity, the mandate of Municipal Council and the requirements
of the Municipal Systems Act, Municipal Finance Management Act, Companies Act and The King
Code of Governance Principles for South Africa and the King Report on Governance (King III).
Like all other businesses they must perform to, among others, grow the business whilst managing
risks, create and retain jobs”.
Board members are an integral link between the
Shareholder and the Entity. Board members must be
independent and exercise authority over the affairs of
the Municipal entity. At times, the relationship between a
Municipal Council and the Board maybe complicated, in part
due to misunderstanding or lack of effective communication,
but fortunately there is sufficient legislation to govern this
arm’s length relationship.
Since our appointment in April 2016, this Board has
diligently presided over a fast changing, adapting and
evolving MBDA. The organisation that started out in 2003
faced a completely different set of challenges to what is
currently altering the socio-economic landscape, globally,
driven by an unprecedented pandemic. Over the four
years serving as Chairperson of the MBDA Board, the
Agency has developed and passed several innovative
policies that enable the institution to respond to current
challenges. In 2018, we approved a new 5-year Strategic
Plan that focused on Spatial Transformation and People
Development. This shift was necessitated by the observation
that, unless the socio-economic conditions are prioritized,
public space improvements would never be sufficient on
their own to turn around communities and economies. This
shift required organisational repositioning and repurposing of
existing skills to respond to a changing environment.
It is therefore pleasing to note that such investment paid
dividends when Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent
lockdowns were thrust upon us. The Agency’s innovative
response became a lifeline to many communities, positioned

the MBDA as a caring and responsive organisation and
allowed us to play a meaningful role.
As we look beyond the pandemic, we see an Agency
that is well positioned to support the Nelson Mandela
Bay Municipality in dealing with complex challenges. The
inherent skills, planning and project management capabilities
now available at the MBDA that can be leveraged for years
to come. It gives me great pleasure to once again preside
over an institution that has consistently met the standard of
accountability, financial stewardship, and integrity.
The attainment of yet another unqualified audit outcome
from the Auditor General of South Africa is not taken lightly,
especially after enduring significant funding challenges and
greater scrutiny. For this, I thank fellow Board members,
Management and all the employees of the entity, including
those based at the Nelson Mandela Bay Stadium and
Uitenhage Science and Technology Centre. I also thank the
appointing authority, the Nelson Mandela Bay Council for
entrusting us with the responsibility and opportunity to serve
this Metro.

Mputumi Phil Goduka
MBDA Board Chairperson

As we look beyond
the pandemic, we
see an Agency that
is well positioned
to support the
Nelson Mandela
Bay Municipality
in dealing
with complex
challenges.
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Chief Executive
Officer’s Report
The 2019/2020 financial year will have bitter-sweet memories for the MBDA team. It was on
course to improve its capital performance over an already significantly improved 2018/19 financial
year. In line with most public sector service delivery organisations, performance is accelerated
in the last two quarters, so when the national lockdown brought about by the COVID-19 came
about, all capital work came to a halt, with the limited restart only taking place within the last
quarter, within level three regulations.
Notwithstanding this, 2018/19 was a breakthrough year
with record performance achievements, 65.6% in Budget
performance and 69% achieved on KPI’s. The Stadium
Isolation centre received accolades locally and abroad
for the innovative support programs and holistic care to
candidate patients. Through leveraging existing and new
partnerships, the MBDA developed a ground-breaking
response to alleviate the pressure. The NMB Stadium team
delivered the country’s most successful Covid-19 Isolation
facility, working closely with DoH and NMBM.
The team at the Science & Technology Centre use the
downtime to produce sanitisers and masks for community
use. This is in addition to the support provided to vulnerable
communities through the reallocation of part of the MBDA
budget and as volunteers.
Throughout the pandemic, the team never lost focus and
went beyond expectations to deliver on our mandate,
showing great resilience. This performance was achieved
due to the “never say die” attitude of the MBDA team which
quickly found ways to meet their targets within the Covid-19
environment.
The work completed includes preparation for several new
programmes such as Bayworld, Happy Valley and the
Uitenhage Sheds. Momentum lost with SPUU was regained
with significant progress on built infrastructure, navigating
unique and deep-rooted challenges where the establishment
of dedicated roles in Psychosocial and Creative industries
later paid returns in response to Covid-19 community

support. In December 2019 we launched the first ever
public space improvement infrastructure facility built with
new generation composite materials.
The NMB Stadium was the centre of events in the Bay,
hosting the popular Ebubeleni Festival and playing host to
Bafana Bafana vs Ghana (sadly Bafana lost). The NMB STC
continued to play a critical role in Science and Technology
promotion, hosting the annual Career Summit, Eskom Expo
for Young Scientists and National Science week. During
this period, we also launched an innovative zero-rated
public participation platform MBDAengage.co.za which has
transformed the interface between the institution and the
public.
Collectively the team held together during the pandemic,
compounded by the absence of a Board and financial
challenges because of non-payment. Despite all that, it
once again pulled another unqualified audit from the AG. For
this, all credit and my gratitude go to this team. It is for this
reason that the annual CEO’s Award was presented to each
member of staff because they placed their development
work above their individual challenges at a time when it was
not expected of them.

Ashraf Adam
Chief Executive Officer
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Vision, Mission, and
Strategic Objectives

Vision
To develop an iconic world-class ocean
city showcasing its diversity of people,
culture, heritage, and environment.

Mission
To become a knowledge-based
developmental agency that seeks to
achieve social, spatial, and economic
transformation in Nelson Mandela Bay.

Strategic Objectives
	To pioneer and implement peoplecentred catalytic programmes.
	To create spaces and places that
inspire and transform Nelson Mandela
Bay; and
	Develop and promote a creative
culture in Nelson Mandela Bay.

Corporate
Governance
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2.1 The Mandate

2.3 Board of Directors

The MBDA was conceptualised by the Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality
(NMBM) and the Industrial Development Corporation (IDC), and is a
wholly owned entity of the NMBM.

The Board provides strategic oversight to ensure that the MBDA reaches
its objectives and delivers on its mandate.

The Agency was created in 2003 following an
acknowledgement by the city’s leadership of the
urgent need to reverse a trend towards urban decay
in the inner city and to drive urban regeneration in
the Nelson Mandela Bay CBD and other designated
areas.
The scope of the Agency’s has widened over the
years and now encompasses urban renewal in
township areas, the beachfront, the Nelson Mandela
Bay (NMB) Stadium precinct and Uitenhage.
As a municipal entity, the MBDA is governed
primarily by the Municipal Systems Act 32 of 2000,

the Municipal Finance Management Act 56 of 2000
and the Companies Act No 71 of 2008. It operates
under a specific, approved mandate document,
which outlines a focused approach to be followed in
respect of services provided, catalytic infrastructure
projects and liaison with other parastatals and
government departments to create a conducive
investment environment in its mandate areas.
The NMBM also has a Service Delivery Agreement
with the MBDA that is reviewed every three years,
and which formalises and governs the relationship
between the two entities.
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Board members as at 30 June 2020

Mputumi Phil Goduka

Rajesh Dana

Kenny Govender

Bongani Gxilishe

Rojie Kisten

Chairperson appointed to
the Board: 21 April 2016

Appointed to the Board:
21 April 2016

Appointed to the Board:
21 April 2016

Appointed to the Board:
21 April 2016

Appointed to the Board:
21 April 2016

Resigned 5 July 2020

Resigned 30 Sept. 2020

2.2 Ownership and Control
The MBDA was established as a municipal entity in 2003 as a joint
initiative of the Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality (NMBM) and the
Industrial Development Corporation (IDC). The Agency is wholly owned
by the NMBM.
The MBDA, represented by its board of directors,
receives its mandate from the NMBM, acting through
the Executive Mayor, the City Manager and Council.
The Agency is contractually accountable to the
NMBM, to which it delivers compliance reporting
in respect of its key performance indicator targets
being achieved. The MBDA relies on the NMBM for
service delivery direction in terms of its contractual
obligations contained in the Service Delivery
Agreement (SDA).

As controlling shareholder, the NMBM provides
corporate governance-related support, such as
sustainability and compliance reporting and review.
The MBDA Board is responsible for providing
strategic direction and guidance to Management, as
well as ensuring oversight on corporate governance
and performance matters. The MBDA management
is responsible for operational aspects in line with the
strategic planning and mandate documents of the
Agency, as well as the Integrated Development Plan
of its parent municipality.

Adrian Gardiner

Sithole Mbanga

Masalamani Odayar

Mandlakazi Ruth Skefile

Glenda Perumal

Appointed to the Board:
21 April 2016

Appointed to the Board:
21 April 2016

Appointed to the Board:
21 April 2016

Appointed to the Board:
30 April 2019

Appointed to the Board:
30 April 2019

Mike Kwenaite

Mxolisi Moolman

Pinky Kondlo

Vuyani Dyantyi

Appointed to the Board:
30 April 2019

Appointed to the Board:
30 April 2019

Appointed to the Board:
30 April 2019

Appointed to the Board:
30 April 2019

Resigned 30 Sept. 2020

Khwezi Gideon
Ntshanyana
Appointed to the Board:
30 April 2019

Resigned 2 March 2020

Company Secretary: Mbulelo Matiwane
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2.4 Board Committees

2.5 Executive Management

Audit Committee

The operations of the Mandela Bay Development Agency
are a delegated function of the Chief Executive Officerand
Management team. One of the primary responsibilities
of Management is to coordinate the formulation of the
Agency’s Strategic Plan as well the annual Business Plan,
for approval by the Board. Collectively, the CEO and the
Management team are responsible for the attainment
of annual targets, and effective management of
the organisation.

Michelle Wait: Chairperson and Independent member (up until 25 September 2019)
Herbert Fischat: Independent member (up until 25 September 2019)
William Smith: Independent member (up until 25 September 2019)
Gregory Billson: Independent Member (up until 25 September 2019)
Stephen Nel: Independent Member (up until 25 September 2019)

Corporate Service Committee
Sithole Mbanga: Chairperson
Rajesh Dana
Kasaven Kenny Govender
Pinky Kondlo
Khwezi Ntshanyana

Capital Programmes Planning and Implementation Committee
Rojie Kisten: Chairperson (resigned 30 September 2019)
Masalamani Odayar
Mike Kwenaite
Glenda Perumal
Mxolisi Moolman

Risk Compliance and Finance Committee
Mandlakazi Skefile: Chairperson
Bongani Gxilishe
Vuyani Dyantyi
Pinky Kondlo
Adrian Gardiner

Ashraf Adam: Chief Executive Officer
Koliswa Mgijima: Chief Financial Officer
Debbie Hendricks: Operations Executive

	
Mpho Mokonyama: Nelson Mandela Bay
Stadium Manager
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3.1.1 Inner City Precinct: Baakens Pedestrian Bridge
The Baakens Pedestrian Bridge project
forms part of the Baakens Valley
Masterplan that was adopted by the
MBDA for implementation, back in
2014. The Baakens Valley Masterplan
includes a suite of catalytic projects
that are aimed at revitalizing the lower
Baakens precinct. The key objective of
the project is to activate the Baakens
Valley precinct and link the inner
city with the Baakens Valley. The
inclusion of new generation composite
materials into the project added
an element of innovation through

partnerships. Composite materials
are low maintenance, unrecyclable
and weather resilient, making them
a key consideration for public space
improvements.
This project brings major benefits to
the city in several ways. The Bridge
creates a link between the Baakens
Valley and the inner city, and it also
provides easy access for pedestrians
travelling from the inner city train
station to Walmer. The project also
contributed to the activation of events

in Produce Street, which became
a thriving events destination. The
Baakens Pedestrian Bridge project
also made significant progress in
the meeting and exceeding of small
enterprise development. This aspect
was achieved through the inclusion of
eight local Small, Medium and Microsized Enterprises (SMMEs) through the
allocation of work packages, which
enabled them to upgrade their CIDB
grading at the end of the project.

3.1 Overview of Programmes
and Activities
The MBDA through the Operations Unit is actively pursuing several programmes
across six precincts. The programmatic approach implies that each node contains
a programme that houses several interdependent and complimentary projects.

Inner City
	Govan Mbeki Precinct (ABM)
	Mermaids Precinct
	Baakens
Vuyisile Mini
South End Mixed Use
St Peter’s

Uitenhage
	Science and Technology
Centre
	Railways Sheds Upgrade
Precinct Plan
	CBD Surrounds Upgrade
(ABM)

New Brighton
	Singaphi Street Upgrade
	New Brighton Swimming
Pool
	New Brighton Cultural
Precinct

Pedestrian Bridge
Telkom Park
Bayworld

Korsten and
Schauderville
	Neave Street Park
	Business Plan
	Improvements to Durban
Road (ABM)

Helenvale
	SPUU Capital projects
(Youth Centre, Victim
Support Centre, Walkways)
	Safer Schools
Employment Support

NMB Stadium
	Stadium
	Research and Development

3.1.2 Inner City Precinct:
Baakens Parkway Development
The project was initially identified by
the Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality
as one of the catalytic programmes to
create affordable housing and mixeduse spaces in the city. These spaces
aim to deliver attractive, vibrant and
people-friendly places, as well as
celebrate the rich history and culture
of the precinct. The Baakens Parkway
Development incorporates areas
where people can live, work and play.

The rich green, built and cultural
heritages within the precinct offer great
opportunities to develop a tourism and
leisure product that can contribute to
the tourism offering of the Bay.
By enhancing the area for public
use, increasing safety and with the
rehabilitation of natural open space
areas, the following can be achieved:

	Increased use of the precinct by
international, national, and local
tourists;
	Increased opportunity for microenterprises and entrepreneurial
enterprises in the precinct;
	And creating public spaces that
inspire and transform Nelson
Mandela Bay.
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3.1.3 Inner City Precinct: Bayworld and Happy Valley

3.1.4 Uitenhage Precinct: Railway Sheds Redevelopment

The Bayworld and Happy Valley
redevelopment is a megaproject for
the Eastern Cape Province and seeks
to transform 55ha of underutilised land
spatially, socially, and economically into
an inclusive, post-apartheid new heart
for Nelson Mandela Bay. The goal of
the programme is to enable multigenerational, multi-cultural and mixed
income group usages. The mission
is to create a spectacular, iconic
place that is the headquarters of a
Nelson Mandela Bay eco-tourism and
edutainment experience, rooted in the
heritage and cultures of the Eastern
Province to drive conservation and
economic development.

The purpose of the project is to redevelop the existing
Railway Sheds as part of a commercial, leisure and tourism
precinct in Uitenhage. The development will contribute
to growing the economy, creating tourism infrastructure
and will add significant value to the existing Science and
Technology Centre.

The Bayworld and Happy Valley
programme focuses on the national
imperatives of job creation and
economic development while
ensuring psycho-social development,
conservation, and education for the
Eastern Cape. This is to be achieved
by activating the potential of its unique
biodiversity and intangible heritage to
leverage the tourism industry.
The objectives of the programme
are to:
	Unlock the green, built and cultural
heritage of the Eastern Cape;
	Package the wealth of tourism
offerings of the province and
provide access to them through
a digital experience of each and
follow up with real in-person
experiences;
	Conserve the threatened terrestrial

and oceans biodiversity treasures
of the region;
	Drive an education, knowledge
dissemination and research
programme that will stimulate
minds across the Eastern Cape,
South Africa and abroad;
	Enable social cohesion through
access to the experience by
multi-age, multi-cultural and multieconomic groups from the Bay and
the Eastern Cape.
The Bayworld and Happy Valley
programme consists of 13 catalytic
capital projects that cut across
the Heritage, Science, Environmental,
Conservation, Tourism, Educational,
Industrial, Recreational and Housing
sectors.
The Bayworld and Happy Valley
project utilises the Quadruple Helix
model and aims to deliver:
	A conservative R2.2-billion of
investment;
	Potentially 4 239 temporary jobs
during the construction phase;
	Potentially 806 permanent job
opportunities during the operational
phase;
	A potential contribution to GDP of
R 1.5-billion per annum.
The Bayworld and Happy Valley
programme has generated excitement
and anticipation, built up through
extensive, widespread stakeholder
engagements. One of the positive

aspects that emerged through this
process was the understanding
that the world-approach to zoos
and museums has changed; and
that participatory and immersive
experiences are key - a drastic
move away from a traditional circus
approach.
A significant development has been
the understanding of the world-class
biodiversity and unique heritage assets
of Nelson Mandela Bay. Also notable
is the one-of-a-kind ‘school’ that
exists at Bayworld, welcoming more
than 100 000 pupils from across the
Eastern Cape annually. The dedicated
and passionate staff at Bayworld is an
inspiring asset to the institution and the
city. Bayworld has a unique collection
in the museum, the 100-year-old
hepatology section, the rehabilitation
work undertaken from Mossel Bay to
KwaZulu-Natal and the sanctuary to
penguins and seals is world-class. This
makes the prospect of redeveloping
this iconic asset a privilege.
This programme has demonstrated
the importance of public engagement
to find solutions for developing a
conceptual framework. The ability to
listen and join the dots across sectors
to find a unique solution to our unique
assets is crucial. It takes time to
extract meaningful contributions and
often the results are not immediately
visible. Bringing together stakeholders
from all four of the quadruple helix
sectors is important to ensure the
maximum chance of success for
delivery.

This programme has demonstrated
the importance of public engagement
to find solutions for developing a
conceptual framework.

Once completed, the precinct will become a new vibrant
node for Uitenhage, offering opportunities to work, live and
play close to the heart of the town. This catalytic programme
will enhance the economic development of the town of
Uitenhage.
As the project continues from structural improvements to
refurbishments, additional employment opportunities will
be created with a greater involvement of local emerging
entrepreneurs. Post-construction, it is estimated that
additional employment opportunities will be created during
the operational phase.

Features of the development include:
	A safe recreational precinct;
Investment attraction into the area;
	Creating a smart centre that is technology-driven;
	Creating sustainable revenue streams from rental
opportunities.
The sustainable employment of locals will create a sense of
ownership and pride in this community, encouraging a better
quality of life in the future.
Through this project, the value of community participation
in the development of public spaces has been affirmed,
once again. This confirms that honest and effective
public participation by all stakeholders and the immediate
community is critical in obtaining buy-in and ownership of a
project.
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3.1.5 Psychosocial Programmes

3.1.7 Helenvale Precinct: Youth Centres

These programmes support the MBDA’s strategic objectives
aligned with holistic community development that not only
focuses on infrastructure delivery but includes elements that
bring about people development.

This project is important as it meets and promotes all three
strategic objectives of the MBDA:

Communities across the Bay face several and sometimes
area-specific social, psychological, and economic

challenges that are pursued through this programme.
The latter part of the financial year was dominated by
the Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent lockdowns.
The psychosocial interventions conducted in the form of
Covid-19 relief as well as remote counselling services have
brought about relief and hope across various communities
of the Bay.

3.1.6 Creative Industry
The significance of culture-led strategies and interventions
in urban areas is that they are mostly people-led, reinforce
the attributes of identity, heritage(s), and contribute to
making cities resilient, inclusive and sustainable. These
different layers of activities and programmes that include
community theatre, cultural groups, artists, heritage(s),
public art, film, performing arts, and literature all form part
of the fundamental human right to cultural expression and
is a key component to the MBDA’s people-led and inclusive
approach to development.
The Eastern Cape and Nelson Mandela Bay in particular
have a unique story that we are gradually beginning
to unpack. This is evident in the public artworks, film,
performing arts, and creative spaces that fall within the
mandate of the MBDA. Creativity inspires ideas and
solutions to the important questions raised by urban
policies.
The most inspiring moment in this period must be the
installation of the public artwork in South End, St. Peters.
The 1960’s forced removals of South End will forever remain
a painful reminder of the past, but the culturally-sensitive
work of the MBDA created a space that memorialised what
the former South End community stood for.

“To pioneer and implement people-centred catalytic
programmes.”
Currently there is no youth centre in Nelson Mandela Bay
developed by local government and solely dedicated to the
youth. This makes it both “people-centred and catalytic” in
that it responds to the dire situation faced by youth in the
Helenvale area, and that it is the first of its kind in the Bay,
making it a catalyst which can be replicated in other areas of
the city when proved successful.

Arts, culture and heritage offers opportunities for networking
and conversations among students, policymakers,
academia, civil society, renowned experts, business, and
government. This is extremely critical in open conversations
and healthy debates and dialogues on topics such as
transformation (not the rhetoric – but the true sense of the
word).

“To create spaces and places that inspire and
transform Nelson Mandela Bay.”
The space where the facility is built, was an open field;
a dump site which was a health hazard and provided a
space for socially destructive activities. The space is now
transformed and is a place of gathering with its potential fully
recognized.

In one of South African history’s greatest ever speeches, the
Khoikhoi leader Klaas Stuurman greeted the British army as
follows: “Restore the country of which our forefathers were
despoiled by the Dutch and we have nothing more to ask.
We lived very contentedly before these Dutch plunderers
molested us, and why should we not do so again if left to
ourselves?”

“Develop and promote a creative culture in Nelson
Mandela Bay.”
The community requested that a screen wall be built, which
will assist against the winds and be utilized for outdoor
events. The MBDA has subsequently been approached
by artists to do a mural on the wall as well as on the
containers, which will depict
Helenvale stories.

The creative and cultural industries have over the years
offered alternatives in experiencing and understanding
heritage(s). Films, theatre, dance, documentaries, books,
and music offer an amazing opportunity to be the time
capsule that will carry the heavy burden of the heritage
of a people. This is such an important sector that has
even carried us through the most difficult of times during
Covid-19. Arts, culture and heritage should always be the
cornerstone of an effective and inclusive development.

The Helenvale area is challenged with high levels of crime,
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unemployment, substance abuse, school dropouts,
gangsterism activities, and in addition, residents must deal
with being stigmatised by those living outside the area. The
activities available at the MBDA-built Youth Centre include a
digital library, games room, workshop area and an outside
learning area - all these are a direct response to the social
challenges mentioned.
One of the most inspiring moments during this project
was when the fencing contractor started working. The
community had already organised themselves to protect
the project, ensuring that no disruption or interruption of
the project would be tolerated, including arranging storage
facilities. All these initiatives were done independently of the
MBDA, which is a direct indication that the community is
willing to go the extra mile to protect and look after what is
in their interest. It also shows that they see value in what the
programme is endeavouring to achieve in their community.
Because of the community’s active involvement, not even a
single screw went missing, which is something one does not
normally see in construction sites.
One of the greatest lessons from this project was that
one cannot attempt to bring development into an area
without the involvement of the community. This project was
identified by the community themselves and they came up
with the solution by themselves - meaning that the erection
of this facility is a fruition of their wishes for their community.
Hence, there was very minimal problems during the
implementation of the project.

3.1.8 Schauderville and Korsten Precinct:
Moore Dyke Sports Complex
The Schauderville and Korsten area has a rich history in sport, but unfortunately the area has a
visible challenge of unemployment and gangsterism. This project is therefore a direct response
to the MBDA’s strategic objective of creating spaces and places that inspire and transform
Nelson Mandela Bay.
The main objective of the project is to bring social cohesion through sport. Currently the area
is host to several functioning sporting codes, but unfortunately with insufficiently functioning
sport facilities. Once completed, the Moore Dyke Sports Complex will be able to host not only
local sports tournaments, but provincial events as well, bringing in much-needed exposure
and potential revenue into the neighbourhood economy.
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3.1.9 Uitenhage Precinct: Nelson Mandela Bay
Science and Technology Centre
The R30-million Nelson Mandela
Bay Science and Technology Centre
(NMBSTC) was launched in March
2013 with a mission to be a dynamic
institution that provides access to
Science, Technology, Engineering,
Mathematics, and Innovation (STEMI)
for all citizens through focused
programmes. Located in the heart
of Uitenhage’s central business
district, the centre is a groundbreaker and the first standalone

science centre not affiliated to an
institution of higher learning. A
project of the MBDA, an entity of the
Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality, the
centre has programmes designed
to build enthusiasm and affinity for
STEMI through fun and interactive
engagements between scientists and
young people.
Learners discover the daily
applications of STEMI in their

communities at the centre through
activities that are intended to ensure
that they begin to see STEMI subjects
as fun and enjoyable. Numerous
in-house and outreach programmes
have been implemented to support the
NMBSTC’s vision and goals to provide
learners, educators, and the general
public access to resources related to
STEMI.
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Africa Code Month 7 - 31 October 2019
Africa Code Week is a digital skills
development initiative that aims to
drive sustainable learning impact
across the continent to support the
UN’s Sustainable Development Goals,
as per the Africa Code Week website.
The NMBSTC ran Africa Code Month
from 7 to 31 October 2019.
This programme was run in
partnership with Nelson Mandela
University, powered by S4 Integration
and Tangible. Africa Code Month was
aimed at empowering learners by
increasing their digital literacy, leaving
them with basic coding skills through

the introduction of Scratch and
TANKS.
Scratch is a block-based visual
programming language and online
community, targeted primarily at
children. Users of the site can create
online projects using a block-like
interface. TANKS, an educational
mobile application created by
former Nelson Mandela University
student Byron Batterson, was also
used to facilitate the empowerment
of the 21st century student. This
educational mobile application aims
to teach learners basic computer

skills. The Africa Code Month initiative
empowered learners with basic coding
skills through coding games. These
games introduced learners to basic
coding language that will later help
them be more digitally inclined and
sharpen their analytical thinking and
problem-solving skills. The initiative’s
relevance continues to be everincreasing as we rapidly move towards
the Fourth Industrial Revolution.
Through the Africa Code Month
initiative, the NMBSTC reached a total
of 10 600 learners.

National Science Week 29 July - 3 August 2019
A countrywide celebration of science,
engineering, and technology, the
National Science Week is an initiative
of the National Research Foundation
(NRF) and the Department of
Science and Technology (DST). As
the implementing agency, the South
African Agency for Science and
Technology Advancement (SAASTA)
ensures that the programme is

delivered effectively by various
stakeholders and role-players across
the country, simultaneously at multiple
sites.
This annual event aims to raise
awareness for STEMI in schools and
increase the declining number of
learners taking up STEMI subjects.
The initiative ran from 29 July – 3

Industry Visits

This programme aims to educate learners while entertaining them. The
learners get to explore science, technology, and mathematics through fun,
interactive activities.

The annual Industry Visits-initiative
gives learners a real-life, on-the-job
application of the innovation, science
and technology used by different
organisations. This initiative was made
possible through collaborative efforts
by the centre and industries such as
Transnet, Jendamark, Isuzu Motors
South Africa, MAHLE Behr, and the
Port of Ngqura. The initiative focused
on the Take a Girl Child to Work
approach to correct the misconception
that STEMI careers are predominantly
male-fitting fields of study. Through
the Industry Visits, the programme
reached a total of 106 learners
and 8 adults/educators.

Open Week

As a part of the in-house programme, the school group tours cater for all grades. These programmes expose learners to
the “how” and “why” of science through various activities such as science shows, workshops, and interactive exhibits. The
NMBSTC reached a total of 2768 learners and 980 adults through these programmes.

A grant of R93 780, was received from
SAASTA for the implementation of
National Science Week. A total of
1 088 learners and 105 educators/
adults were reached through National
Science Week.

School Holiday Programme

The programme caters to learners from the ages of 5 – 16 and runs during the
school holidays. The Holiday programme reached a total of 102 learners.

Curriculum-aligned Practicals and School Group Tours

August 2019 under the theme
“Facing the Harsh Realities of Climate
Change.”

This programme is aimed at providing both educational and social support to
learners in the Uitenhage region. During this week, learners can complete their
bursary, tertiary education, and Financial Aid Scheme applications. Guidance
and use of the centre’s facilities are offered, for free.
The Open Week brought forth a total of 34 learners and 1 adult/educator.
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Summary of Stats: July 2019 - June 2020

Eskom Expo for Young Scientists
The Eskom Expo for Young Scientists is an exposition, or
science fair, where students have a chance to share with
others their projects about their own scientific investigations.
This residential science education programme offered
various activities for young people and was aimed at
supporting and strengthening the learners’ STEMI skills.
Through this programme learners had the opportunity
to access the Science Centre’s resources and received

mentoring to develop their scientific projects for the Expo.
This allows them to identify gaps in research and innovation,
as well as assist with analytical thinking.
The Eskom Expo for Young Scientists programme allowed
the centre to reach a total of 38 learners and 15 adults/
educators.

Table 1: NMBSTC programme impact figures for period July – December 2019. A total number of 14659 learners and 1 458
adults/educators were reached.

Impact
Programmes

Learners

Adults

2 768

980

10 600

-

1 088

105

102

-

34

1

106

8

38

15

General Visitors

291

432

Learner Career Summit

285

75

15 312

1 616

Curriculum-aligned Practicals, Exhibitions, School Group Tours
Africa Code Week
National Science Week

General Walk-ins
The Nelson Mandela Bay’s Science and Technology Centre’s
facilities are openly and freely accessible to members of the
public. During the period under review a total of 723 people
visited the science centre. General walk-ins brought forth a
total of 291 learners and 432 adults.

The programmes run by the Science Centre are funded
by SAASTA. For the period under review, the NMBSTC
received a total of R351 000 from SAASTA to implement the
programmes.

Learner Career Summit: 5 - 8 March 2020
The NMBSTC in partnership with the Volkswagen Technical
Learning Academy and the National Union of Mine Workers
(NUMSA) hosted the first annual Learner Career Summit
under the theme “Preparing students for the 21st-century
workplace”. The summit aimed to provide support, share
knowledge, and educate learners about what the future of
work would look like.

Several workshops and presentations were made that
educated the learners about gap years, various post-matric
opportunities available to them, and assisted them in making
informed career and educational decisions. A sponsorship
of R25 000 was received from NUMSA to run the Learner
Career Summit. A total of 360 people and 16 organisations
participated in the summit.

Covid-19 Response
In an effort to curb the spread of the virus, the NMBSTC
partnered with IM Africa Foundation and FOI Science
to implement a Covid-19 response programme for the
production of 2 000 bottles of hand sanitiser and 1 000
facemasks. The programme trained 15 unemployed women

in the production of hand sanitisers and facial masks.
Participants were also trained on how to produce lotion with
antibacterial and antiviral properties. The hand sanitisers
were distributed to schools and organisations around
Nelson Mandela Bay.

Programma Uitzending Managers (PUM)
Support from the Netherlands
The NMBSTC was fortunate to host an expert from the
Netherlands, Cees Burger, whom Programma Uitzending
Managers (PUM) placed at the Science Centre. PUM is wellknown for supporting organisations - through their expert
advice, to strengthen their position and positively impact
society, the environment, and the economy. The NMBSTC
staff was afforded the opportunity to work with Burger in
reviewing the centre’s operations and strategy from 24
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February to 6 March. The programme included hands-on
sessions with staff members, as well as external and internal
interviews with stakeholders that work closely with the
centre. Burger interacted with more than 20 stakeholders
and had the opportunity to witness some of the centre’s
activities, such as the curriculum-aligned, practical centre
visits by the schools, and the Learner Summit.

School Holiday Programme
Open Week
Industry Visits
Eskom Expo Mentorship Programme

Total Reach

15 312
1 616

learners
reached

adults
reached
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3.1.10 Central Special Rating Area
The previous period represented the conclusion of the
formative period of the Special Rating Area (SRA) with the
conversion from an interim board to the appointment and
formalisation of the NPC operating entity.

paid over in March 2020 and this effectively facilitated the
commencement of activities in the area.

The Central SRA was able to gather the required 50% + 1
approval from most property owners in the designated area.

During March 2020, the SRA appointed a registered security
company to provide a dedicated response vehicle for the
SRA demarcated area. This had a marked impact on crime
activity and the safety perception of residents.

The SRA initiated a very successful strategy session in
January 2020 that was well attended and included some of
the influential property owners and alliance partners, such as
the MBDA.

Various initiatives commenced around waste management,
including engagements with the cleansing department,
subcontractors and residents to improve communication
and awareness.

The inaugural AGM of the Central SRA was held on 9
March 2020. The meeting was well attended, and the
appointment of the new Board of Directors was finalised.

The Central SRA Operations Manager, Hayley Stirk, was
appointed with effect from 1 June 2020.

An agreement was concluded between the MBDA and the
SRA, for the MBDA to provide seed funding to the SRA to
execute the MBDA’s mandate on aspects such as security,
waste management and general upliftment. Funds were

The NMBM Council approved the SRA’s special rating levy
at a meeting held on 29 June 2020, clearing the way for the
SRA revenue collection to commence with effect from July
2020.

3.2 Flagship Project Focus:

Helenvale-based SPUU Programme
The Safety and Peace through Urban Upgrading (SPUU)
programme is an international development resulting from
a co-operation between the German and South African
governments through the Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality
and KfW Development Bank.

Helenvale Demographic Profile
The area’s total population is estimated to consist of 21 000
residents (as per Statistics SA Census 2011):
52% Female
48% Male
	69% of the population under (<) 35 years of age
On average less than 10% of the population has matric.

Timeline
9 Years from 2012 - 2021
1. Cooperation Agreement Signed: 2012
2. Tender for Services: 2012 - 2013
3. Implementing Consultants Appointments: Feb. 2014
4. Baseline/Masterplan: March - Nov. 2014
5. Implementation: Jan. 2015 - Mid-2018
6. F
 irst Phase Completion/Project Hiatus: Negotiation
and Extension: 2018
7. Extension Period: Feb. 2019 - March 2020
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General Unemployment
Unemployment rates in NMBM reflect the national average. From the last Quarter of 2018 to the third Quarter of 2019, the
general unemployment rate increased from 26.1% to 31%, according to estimates of Statistics SA.

Youth Unemployment
In the same period, the rate of youth unemployment (15 to 24 years) in NMBM has risen to 61.6%, as calculated by the
Harambee Youth Employment Accelerator, with a 71% unemployment rate for Helenvale and Barcelona youth aged between
15 to 24 years.

Crime and Violence in Gelvandale Precinct: Key Facts
The increase in the rate
of Attempted Murders in
Gelvandale precinct which
includes Helenvale since
2013/14 was even more
dramatic than the rise in
the Murder Rate. With 149
victims of Attempted Murder
in 2018/2019, the rate is
648 - almost twice as high
as in the entire Gelvandale
police precinct. In 2020, 21
gangs were operating in the
Gelvandale police precinct,
of which 13 were based in
Helenvale.

450

Attempted murder
rate Gelvandale

400
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Attempted murder
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250
200
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rate South Africa

150
100
50
0

0

9/1

200

1

0/1

201

2

1/1

201

3

2/1

201

4

3/1

201

5

4/1

201

6

5/1
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7
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201

8

7/1

201

9
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201

SPUU Funding and Programme Spending
	Total programme investment of approximately €10.5-million (R180-million) of which 52% is shared by South Africa and
48% by Germany through a KfW grant - or approximately €400 per capita.
By 2020 70% of the total budget was spent.

Programme Activities:
Socio-Economic Activities
Safer Schools

	Over the last five years, over 50 different activities have been
held, involving a total of more than 4 000 participants.

Domestic Violence Prevention

	In 2019, the two WDHs counselled 1 322 clients, more than
100 per month.
	Counselling Access Points (CAPs) provided spaces where,
on average, 40 - 60 cases were seen per month.
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Youth Employment Options
Career Guidance
	Career and work-readiness workshops/information
sessions were hosted for 6 500 participants from
Helenvale - 40% of participants were female and
60% male.
Skills Training Programmes
	By February 2019, a total of 710 young individuals had
participated in the skills training courses, 52%
of participants were female and 48% male.
Making Business Work Support Services
A total of 1 300 participants were members of SMMEs.
30 SMMEs were legally registered with the CIPC.
	300 SMMEs participated in business management
training at different levels: approximately 100 SMMEs
were trained at a pre-start-up level, 150 at a start-up
level and 50 at a business expansion level.
Waste Management
	Technical, training and equipment support was provided
to a Helenvale Community Recycling Co-operative
located at Gail Road Depot which provides recycling
services of over 500 kg per month (under Covid-19
condition) of recyclables for trading and sustaining
12 recyclers.

Infrastructure Delivery
	SMMEs Contracted: A total of 25 SMME contractors
were used in the project with an average contract value
of +/-R300 000.
	% Value of SMME Packages (On Average): 40% of
Contract Sum

Annual Report 2019/2020

35

3.3 Flagship Project Focus:

MBDA Covid-19 Relief Intervention
The MBDA founded in 2003 as an
entity of NMBM is overseen by a
council-appointed independent board
of directors. Since inception, the
MBDA has had to navigate rough
seas, unchartered waters and in many
instances, through unconventional
methods, discovered new ways
and approaches to socio-economic
development. All that experience
would come to bear in navigating the
onset of the Covid-19 pandemic.
The MBDA, like all municipalities
and municipal entities, is governed
by several sections of legislation
including the Municipal Systems Act
in terms of structure and governance.
The entity is subject to the Municipal
Finance Management Act in terms
of financial management and supply
chain processes. These two parts of
legislation are complimented by the
Companies Act and the King Code
of Good Governance Principles for
South Africa.
With all that in place, the MBDA
has pioneered a legacy of clean
and unqualified audit outcomes by
the Auditor General of South Africa
since the MFMA was enacted. This
entrenched legacy can be attributed
to the deep culture of respect for the
law, uncompromising commitment to
accountability and good stewardship
of public resources. This is what sets
the record of the MBDA apart and
continues to do so.
When Covid-19 spread to South
Africa, on 15 March 2020 the
designated minister declared a
national State of Disaster in terms
of the Disaster Management Act
(DMA), 57 of 2002, pursuant to which
has become known as a national
lockdown which was instituted with
effect from 26 March 2020 for an initial
period of three weeks. The initial level

of lockdown was extended by two
weeks, whereafter there had been
several regulatory adjustments to
expand the activities permitted under
the State of Disaster.
The Covid-19 pandemic and
subsequent lockdowns had a
devastating effect on South Africa, not
only at the level of the economy but
also directly on citizens. The extent of
this effect on struggling South Africans
had been displayed in the media and
was plain for all to see.
The strategy and response plan of
government is given effect by way of
regulation, made primarily in terms of
the DMA but also in terms of other
statutory empowering provisions
including the Local Government:
Municipal Finance Management Act,
2003 (MFMA).
Not only do such provisions regulate
essential and permitted activities
and the restriction of movement,
but they also impose obligations
on the structures of all levels of
government, including state-owned
entities and public and municipal
entities, to restructure their budgets
and to allocate funds and resources
to achieve the objects of the overall
national strategy.
The call from government was
clearly spelled out in regulations that
institutions should make funding
available and as far as possible,
without affecting service delivery in
relation to the realisation of the rights
contemplated in Sections 26 – 29
of the Constitution of the Republic
of South Africa, 1996, shift funding,
within its budget to implement these
regulations or directions issued in
terms of Section 27(1) of the Act,
regarding the National State of
Disaster.

In response to the Covid-19
pandemic and impact on vulnerable
communities, the MBDA reviewed
its Budget and Budget Spending to
date and determined that an amount
of R4 500 000 provided for on the
Capital Budget for the acquisition of
an immovable property, would not be
spent during the 2020 financial year
and was accordingly available to be
used for the intended purpose.

We know that
we can do
more, with less
through working
with others in a
collaborative way.
The MBDA has in the recent past
developed meaningful and cooperative
partnerships across sectors and
communities where the agency
operates. We know that we can do
more, with less through working
with others in a collaborative way.
The NGOs and industry bodies
across the Bay, all fulfil a different
but complimentary role to that of
the MBDA. It therefore made no
commercial or social sense for the
MBDA to try to occupy the same
space, but to rather collaborate and
cooperate for the benefit of society,
and the citizens who are responsible
for our existence.
The organisations selected as
recipients of the Covid-19 grants were
selected following the submission of
proposals for the utilisation thereof and
were vetted to ensure that the MBDA
was consistent in the implementation
of its mandate. In each case, a
comprehensive agreement providing
for such expenditure, record keeping,
and reporting had been concluded.
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The initiatives
supported by the
MBDA’s R4.5-million
Covid-19 Relief
programme included:
Nelson Mandela Bay
Business Chamber
R1-million towards Covid-19 Relief
Project which includes PPE, medical
supplies, masks, sanitisers, beds,
bedding, mattresses, and ventilators
for the Metro’s hospitals and clinics.
Nelson Mandela University
R500 000 towards Research and
Development of ventilators, and the
development of 3D printing of masks.
Gift of the Givers
R250 000 for food parcels, masks,
soap, sanitisers for Joe Slovo, Sowetoon-sea, Motherwell, Kwanobuhle, and
Rocklands.
Slumdwellers International (CORC)
R250 000 for food parcels, soap, and
sanitisers, as well as education and
awareness pamphlets specifically
relevant for informal settlements
(Bethelsdorp, Greenbushes, Seaview,
Uitenhage, Kwazakhele, Walmer, and
Motherwell).
Community Chest of Nelson
Mandela Bay
R1.2-million to procure and distribute

Annual Report 2019/2020

food parcels, kiddie packs, sanitisers,
masks, and toiletries in MBDA priority
areas of New Brighton, Uitenhage/
Despatch, Schauderville/Korsten,
Helenvale, and Central.
Nelson Mandela Bay Stadium
R600 000 towards the purchasing
and distribution of hand sanitisers and
masks in Wards 5, 7 and 15 as well as
transforming space at the Stadium as
an isolation facility.
Gelvandale White Door of Hope
(SAPS Victim Support Centre)
R60 000 towards meals for places
of safety, toiletries, counselling, food
parcels, sanitisers, and masks.
New Brighton White Door of Hope
(SAPS Victim Support Centre)
R60 000 towards meals for places
of safety, toiletries, counselling, food
parcels, sanitisers, and masks.
IM Africa /NMB Science Centre
R250 000 towards the capacitation
of a community group to produce
2000 bottles of hand sanitiser and the
making of 1000 masks.
Creative Arts Programme
R260 000 towards the funding the
Kulture Kapital Youth Festival in
support of struggling local artists. The
programme offered performing artists
an opportunity to earn an income
during lockdown through online
performances.

Converting the Nelson Mandela
Bay Stadium into a Covid-19
Isolation Facility
The remodelling of the Nelson Mandela
Bay Stadium into a pioneering
Covid-19 isolation site would have
been impossible without the proactive
interventions of the MBDA. That
nearly 1 000 citizens were hosted
at this world-class facility with near
100% recovery, is testament to the
commitment and drive by the MBDA
located at the stadium.
Contributions to organisations
such as the Nelson Mandela Bay
Business Chamber also provided for
much-needed Personal Protection
Equipment so desperately needed at
state hospitals, who were crumbling
under the pressure of Covid-19.

3.4.1 Human Resources
The MBDA aims to be the employer of choice in its field. This
is supported by the agency’s overall objective, as set out in its
Employment Policy, to ensure that its employment practices and
remuneration policies motivate and retain talented employees
and create an attractive work environment.
The Human Resources (HR) office provides a service to
management and employees that embraces the organisation’s
vision and mission. The department suggests to management
how to strategically manage people as business resources.
This includes recruiting and hiring employees with specific skills
sets to meet the organisation’s goals. The HR Department
is committed to delivering an “excellence” service-orientated
culture that seeks to promote employee wellness which
is performance-driven. The unit upholds the tenets of
confidentiality, accountability, and trust.

When lockdown hit, all MBDA projects
grinded to a halt, putting livelihoods
of those who work on our projects
and their families at risk. Workers who
depended on weekly wages faced
hunger and starvation. Working closely
with organisations such as Gift of the
Givers, Slumdwellers International and
Community Chest of Nelson Mandela
Bay brought relief to many.

In the preceding 2018/2019 financial year, the MBDA entered
into a Recognition and Procedural Agreement with the South
African Municipal Workers Union which seeks to regulate the
relationship between the MBDA and the Union. In so doing,
the Agreement seeks to strive for an effective cooperative
relationship through consultation and negotiation on all matters
of mutual concern. This Agreement does not contain any
bargaining rights. For the financial year in question, there
were no formal disputes declared by the Union. There was no
planned expansion or retrenchment.

The MBDA’s ability to act swiftly,
transparently and in partnership with
grassroots community organisations
will continue to be the model at which
the agency promotes sustainable and
participatory development by citizens,
for citizens.

The HR division consists of an HR Manager, Practitioner
and Administrator which services a staff complement of 60
members at the Tramways and NMB Science Centre.

Staff Establishment
2019/2020

3.4 Corporate Services
The Corporate Services unit is home to Human Resources
Management, Information Technology, Risk Management,
as well as Marketing and Communications. The position of

Corporate Services Executive has been vacant throughout
this reporting period, with the Chief Executive Officer
assuming the responsibilities.

Description

Approved
number of posts

Number of
employees

Number of
vacancies

Percentage of
vacancies

Executive Management

5

4

1 (unfunded)

20%

Middle Management

21

17

4 (unfunded)

19%

Skilled Technical Staff

32

25

7 (unfunded)

21,8%

Semi-skilled

14

9

3 (unfunded)

21,4%

Unskilled

5

5

0

0%

Learners and temps

0

0

0

0%

Total

75

60

15

20%
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Organisational Structure
The MBDA’s structure is a response to the business model which focuses on the
development of capital projects as well as facilitation development – augmenting on public
investments. The organisational structure as of 1 July 2019 is reflected below:

CEO

Executive
Assistant

Board
Secretary

Corporate
Services

CFO

Administrative
Support

Finance
Manager

Operations
Executive

Supply Chain
Manager

Human
Resources

IT

Marketing &
Communications

Chief
Accountant

Chief Project
Accountant

2x
Supply Chain
Practitioner

HR
Practitioner

IT
Technician

Communications
Specialist

3x
Accountant

Project
Accountant

Senior SCM
Administrator

HR
Administrator

Data
Technician

Marketing /
Functional
Coordination

3x
Finance
Assistant

2x
Junior SCM
Administrator

Marketing
Assistant

PRA.

Project Managers:
Infrastructure Development
Quantity Surveying
Urban Design
Architecture
Engineering
Creative Industries
Psycho-Social Projects
Social Facilitator
Health and Safety Agent
3 x Project Administrator
EPWP Corordinator

Nelson Mandela
Bay Stadium

UTS

STCM/R&I

F/AM PE

F/AM U&D

Outreach
Coordinator

Facilities
Coordinator

Facilities
Coordinator

Educations &
Programmes
Coordinator

3x
Town Ranger

Town
Ranger

Receptionist:
STC

Caretaker:
Tramways

2x
General
Assistants

Programmes
Administrator
& Research
Coordinator

2x
General
Assistants

Caretakers:
STC

Risk
Management

Payroll
Administrator

Receptionist
Legal Advisor

Compliance
Administrator

Administrative
Support

Administrative
Support
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3.4.2 Risk Management
Risk identification and assessment
is an ongoing process, and the Risk
and Compliance Department ensures
that there are effective risk systems
in place. The core function of the
Risk and Compliance Department
is to assist the MBDA in identifying
and assessing both strategic as well
as operational risks, including the
financing, risk returns and profiles,
and reporting these to the governing
bodies of the Audit Committee, Board
of Directors and Parent Municipality.
The roles and responsibilities of the
department include:

3.4.4 Information Technology

	Facilitating Institutional Reporting
to the Board of Directors, as well
as the Parent Municipality;
	Identifying new and innovative
ways of reporting;
	Administering the commercial
insurances of the MBDA; and
	Providing compliance-related
guidance to the various internal
stakeholders (departments).
Effective risk management is
fundamental to the MBDA’s business
activities. The department evaluates
various processes within the
organisation to identify efficiencies to

drive performance.
By reinforcing a culture of risk
awareness, the department
encourages that when considering
performance, risk must be thoroughly
evaluated as failing to manage risk
associated with objectives will result in
the non-achievement of objectives.

The Marketing and Communications Department supports
the operations of the MBDA by performing various tasks
such as: media liaison, event management, advertising,
marketing collateral development, facilitating public
participation, and brand management. The highlights during
this period include the development of a zero-rated public
participation platform, enabling residents from across the
Bay with equal access to programmes of the MBDA.

In terms of circulation, 1 Jul 2019 - 30 Jun 2020’s individual
service result shows that print Circulation had decreased by
7% to 4 888 226, broadcast was down by 83% to 4 908
911, and online increased by 295 545 928 (125%) to 531
631 821. This increase in online news can be attributed to
the lockdown when the population consumed more online
content. The total combined circulation for the period was
541 428 958, up on the previous year of 270 218 919.

Covid-19 Communications Interventions

MBDA Media Coverage
The figure below illustrates the total combined monitoring
units for MBDA.

In addition, the team was the crucial link between the
MBDA-operated Nelson Mandela Bay Stadium Covid-19
Isolation Facility and the municipality, ensuring that there
were programmes in place for patients, an intervention that
contributed to the nearly 100% recovery rate at the facility.
Annual Media Coverage

The period in revue saw a marginal decline in coverage
because of a full quarter (three months) under lockdown.
For the period, July 2019 – June 2020, the number of news
items in newspapers (print) decreased by 22 (12%) clippings
to 157, broadcast was down by 72 (58%) to 53, and online
remained steady at 351. The total combined news items for
the period were 561, down on the previous year of 655.

28%
63%

The Information Technology (IT) Department is in its second
year of existence at the MBDA ever since the role was
insourced. Since establishment, the unit has developed and
implemented several policies that aim to enable and elevate
the performance of the MBDA, leveraging latest technology
platforms through smart business process mapping.

With the advent of Covid-19 and subsequent lockdowns,
the IT Department worked tirelessly to make sure that there
was business continuity in a period where many worked
from home, remotely. The integration of solutions such
as SharePoint, Microsoft Teams, all ahead of the national
lockdown, meant that the MBDA was a step ahead and
ready to transition with minimal disruption.

The MBDA conducts an annual
strategic risk assessment workshop
to ensure that there is a link between
risk management and the business
planning processes.

3.4.3 Marketing & Communications

When Covid-19 set, the Marketing Department was
co-opted into the Joint Operations Centre of the Nelson
Mandela Bay Municipality’s Disaster Management Centre.
The team contributed to the crafting and implementation of
communication strategies and actions to mitigate against
the spread of Covid-19.
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157

Print

53

9%

Broadcast

351

Online

3.5 Supply Chain
Management Report
The MBDA reports on the B-BBEE and SMME share of both actual expenditure and contractual commitments for all active
contracts. The tables below show the B-BBEE and SMME share of expenditure.

Mandela Bay Development Agency – Main Office
B-BBEE Level

Total

Amount (R)

% of B-BBEE

% of Expenditure

B-BBEE Level 1

74

17 164 208.78

64%

75%

B-BBEE Level 2

10

4 623 354.86

9%

20%

B-BBEE Level 3

1

534.79

1%

0%

B-BBEE Level 4

22

918 111.89

19%

4%

B-BBEE Level 5

0

0

0%

0%

B-BBEE Level 6

0

0

0%

0%

B-BBEE Level 7

1

4 600.00

1%

0%

B-BBEE Level 8

2

34 530.20

2%

0%

Non-Compliant B-BBEE
Contributor

6

181 636.20

5%

1%

116

22 926 977.26

100%

100%

Total
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Mandela Bay Development Agency – NMB Stadium
B-BBEE Level

Total

Amount (R)

% of B-BBEE

% of Expenditure

B-BBEE Level 1

53

11 768 985.70

49%

42%

B-BBEE Level 2

19

13 235 991.10

18%

48%

B-BBEE Level 3

4

358 762.52

4%

1%

B-BBEE Level 4

24

1 438 659.62

22%

5%

B-BBEE Level 5

0

0

0%

0%

B-BBEE Level 6

1

142 624.52

1%

1%

B-BBEE Level 7

0

0

0%

0%

B-BBEE Level 8

0

0

0%

0%

State Organisation/Entity

4

632 240.61

4%

2%

Non-Compliant B-BBEE
Contributor

3

268 909.90

3%

1%

108

27 846 173.97

100%

100%

Total

Capital Projects Appointed for the Year
Contract
Number

Contract Description

Recommended /
Successful Bidder

Contract Price
(R) excl. VAT

B-BBEE
Level

3 070 528.00

1

MBDA SPUU
10/18

Safety and Peace Through Urban
Upgrading (SPUU) – Helenvale:
Pathway & Security Lighting

Alex Maintenance &
Electrical CC

MBDA
001/19/SSIF

The Appointment of a Principal
Contractor for the Refurbishments of
Uitenhage Railway Sheds

Halifax Group (Pty) Ltd

33 663 868.51

1

MBDA SPUU
13/19

Supply, Delivery, and Installation
of “Clear – Vu” or similar approved
Fencing for the Helenvale Youth
Centre In Nelson Mandela Bay

Victory Ticket 771 CC

251 450.13

1

MBDA SPUU
14/19

Quotations for Supply, Delivery, and
Installation of Converted Containers
to Helenvale in Nelson Mandela Bay

Capitainer (Pty) Ltd T/A
Valley Containers

1 619 000.00

4
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3.6 NMB Stadium
This Annual Report represents the first opportunity to report back on the
organisation’s newly defined strategic objectives, which were formulated
in response to our current local and global context.
In the year under review, we were confronted with
the outbreak and spread of the Coronavirus, of
which the long-term impact on the economy remains
quite uncertain at the time of going to print. As an
employer and service provider, the MBDA reacted
quickly to try to safeguard the health of staff and
clients, while ensuring that services and some
events continue to be provided within the stipulated
Covid-19 regulations. Several (the majority of) staff
worked from home and were providing stakeholders
with advice through a wide range of phone and
digital channels.
In an effort to explore ways in which the MBDA
(Nelson Mandela Bay Stadium operator) could help
fight the Covid-outbreak, the operator heeded the
call to serve, by opening the gates of the NMB
Stadium as one of the Coronavirus quarantine
facilities. As such, all normal stadium operations/
activities were ceased for an interim (late March

2020 to end of September 2020). This strategically
positioned the facility as a multipurpose venue with
community interests at heart.
The stadium has since resumed normal operations
(effective since October 2020) and has hosted
several “spectator-free” events including the EP
Elephants debut in the Preparation Series.
Financially, the NMB Stadium incurred a net loss
of more than R5-million in the last two quarters of
2020, caused mainly by the impact of the worldwide
Coronavirus outbreak on all activities around the
staging of events.
The stadium’s goal remains the same: to ensure
that their stakeholders remain at the centre of
everything the NMB Stadium does; something to
which employees are committed to in their day-today work.

Financial Impact
The overall year-to-date Capex Expenditure was
R3.8-million against an Annual Budget of R5-million.
This translates to 76% of the total annual Capex
Budget. This under-performance on expenditure was
due to a combination of factors:
1. Covid-19;
2. No operations during this period; and
3.	No-one was allowed to go to work, except for
essential workers.

Total income decreased by 100% quarter-on-quarter,
due almost entirely to a very steep decline in trading
caused by the Coronavirus. The drop in total income
was mostly accounted for by a significant decline in
the staging of events resulting in the income declining
from 15 events a month to about 3 events a month.
The income generated by these 3 events hosted was
very minimal due to regulations around events.

NMB Stadium - Organisational Performance
The Annual Report has been prepared against the NMBS 2019/20 Business Plan.
From eight Strategic KPI’s, the NMB Stadium achieved 50%, and they are:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Improving of the asset;
Innovation (efficiency is how we do business);
Developing of the team (staff development); and
Tighter measures were introduced to reduce irregular expenditure and deviations.

NMB Stadium - Human Resources
The NMB Stadium aims to be the employer of choice
in its field. This is supported by the overall objective,
which is to ensure that its employment practices
and remuneration policies motivate and retain
talented employees and create an attractive work
environment.

propositions are delivered by staff through their client
engagement and various expertise in their respective
fields. 98% of the Stadium staff were awarded fixedterm contracts which commenced in June 2018
and are due to expire in June 2021. The lapsing/
termination of the staff will result in the following risks:

The NMB Stadium, as a unit of the MBDA is also
bound by the Recognition Agreement in place
between the Agency and the South African Municipal
Workers’ Union (SAMWU).

1. Institutional knowledge loss;
2. Loss of valuable intellectual property; and
3.	Shortage/lack of staff to move the business
forward.

There are 43 positions on the NMB Stadium staff
establishment and organogram. It is critical to
highlight that the current stadium organogram
is outdated which has resulted in difficulty in
implementing the new strategy that is supported by
the new structure. To maximize the growth potential
of the facility, plans for the future are required to
create opportunities, rather than simply wait for
new business. Without an updated organisational
structure that puts key executives and employees
together, it will be difficult to create effective longterm strategies. These include creating growth
through objectives such as introducing new
products/services.
The operating model has been designed to
optimize the NMB Stadium strategy where the value

The current stadium
organogram is
outdated which has
resulted in difficulty
in implementing the
new strategy that is
supported by the
new structure.
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Vacancies
During the period under review, the key positions that remained unfilled were
Operations Manager, Personal Assistant to the Stadium Manager, Safety &
Security Specialist, PR & Communications Coordinator, SCM Coordinator and
Events Administrator. All these positions were left vacant as the business was
not growing and normal operations were minimised by the pandemic.

Foremost Goal
A foremost goal of stadium development is digital
transformation, which remains a need to address in many
stadia in South Africa. No industry is immune to digital
transformation. The NMB Stadium team is currently in the
process of examining how the sports world is changing to
accommodate a new generation of digital and mobile fans,
including the in-person and online sports experiences. This
includes mobile ticketing, in-seat ordering and the facility
becoming cashless and “touchless”. Striving for this would
result in access to a greater range of opportunities, jobs,
livelihood opportunities and services to all.
The facility has aged in the last few years and an
infrastructural review has revealed that an excess of
R50-million over the next few years would be required to
complete upgrades. Stadium innovation and infrastructure

are crucial drivers for economic growth and sustainable
development. It is, therefore, crucial to upgrade the sporting
infrastructure with a much longer-term view. Whilst several
projects are currently underway, other infrastructural
upgrades required include:
Stadium Flood lights replacement;
	Stadium Sound & PA System replacement;
	Pitch Maintenance system installation;
	Field and Mix Zone flooring replacement;
Network/ Fibre upgrade;
Auditorium development;
LED perimeter boards; and
E-gaming facility development.
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Mandela Bay Development Agency
2019/20 Fourth Quarter Performance (Institutional Scorecard)

Key Performance Area

Key Performance Indicator

KPA 1: Basic Service Delivery

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

KPA 2: Municipal
Institutional Development
and Transformation

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of
the Baakens River Pedestrian
Bridge and disabled access at
the Vuyisile Mini Link.

100% by
December 2019

Percentage completion of
construction works for the
rehabilitation of the Saint Peters
Property.

100% by
March 2020

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of the
Fort Frederick Park Project.

70%

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of
the Baakens Parkway Project
(Phase 1).

40%

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of the
demolition of portions
of Bayworld.

50%

Over Achieved

Achievement
Status

Key Performance Area

100% by
December 2019

100% by
December 2019

19%

30%

20%
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Achieved

Partially Achieved

Not Achieved

No. of KPIs
Over-Achieved

No. of KPIs
Achieved

No. of KPIs
Partially Achieved

Achievement
Status

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of the
Helenvale Security Lighting
for the Safer Pedestrian
Routes Project.

100%

90%

Partially Achieved

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of
the Helenvale Youth Training
Facilities Project.

100%

88%

Partially Achieved

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of the
Korsten / Schauderville project
(Moore Dyke).

70%

45%

Not Achieved

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Number of cultural
programmes hosted.

8

9

Over Achieved

Amended to:

Amended to:

83

Achieved3

Achieved

Over Achieved

Not Achieved
KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Number of Psycho-social
Projects implemented.

3
(Schauderville/
Korsten; Uitenhage;
New Brighton).

4
(Schauderville/
Korsten; Uitenhage;
New Brighton).

Over Achieved

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of the
New Brighton cultural precinct
project development.

90%

75%

Partially Achieved

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of
project progress on Govan
Mbeki refurbishments.4

65%

12%

Not Achieved

Partially Achieved

Not Achieved

Amended to:
Percentage completion of the
redevelopment of Bayworld.1
KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Number of new precinct
plans approved.2

1
(Govan Mbeki
Avenue Precinct
plan approved by
MBDA: CEO).

0
(Govan Mbeki
Avenue Precinct
plan prepared).

Not Achieved

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of
the caretaker’s cottage and
beautification of the New
Brighton Swimming Pool
Precinct.4

95% (Phase 2)

80%

Partially Achieved

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of
the Uitenhage Railway Sheds
/ Science Centre Precinct
development.2

74%

66,75%

Partially Achieved

KPA 4: Municipal Financial
Viability and Management

Percentage of Mandela Bay
Development Agency’s Capital
Budget Actually Spent.

95%

42%

Not Achieved

N/A

N/A

N/A

Percentage completion of
the Helenvale Safer Schools
Project.

100% by
31 March 2020

100% by
2 March 2020

Over Achieved

KPA 5: Good Governance
and Public Participation

N/A

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

KPA 3: Local Economic
Development

Percentage completion of the
Helenvale Safe Parks & Sport
Fields Project.

100% by
June 2020

90%

Partially Achieved
1
2

Table continued on page 43

KPI, targets and budget information amended in line with Board approval on 24 June 2020.
Budget information amended in line with Board approval on 24 June 2020.

3
4

In line with CoAF 07 of 2020.
KPI and targets added in line with Board approval on 24 June 2020.
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ANNEXURE B

4.1 Report of the
Auditor General

Report of the auditor-general to Eastern Cape
Provincial Legislature and council on Mandela Bay
Development Agency
Report on the Audit of the
Annual Performance Report
Opinion
1.	I have audited the financial statements of the Mandela
Bay Development Agency set out on pages 64 to 89,
which comprise the statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2020, statement of financial performance,
statement of changes in net assets, cash flow statement
and statement of comparison of budget information with
actual information for the year then ended, as well as the
notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.
2.	In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the
Mandela Bay Development Agency as at 30 June 2020,
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the
requirements of the Municipal Finance Act of South
Africa 56 of 2003 (MFMA) and the Companies Act of
South Africa, 2008 (Act No. 71 of 2008).
Basis for Opinion
3.	I conducted my audit in accordance with the
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My
responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of this auditor’s
report.
4.	I am independent of the municipal entity in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ International code of ethics for professional
accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (IESBA code) as well as other ethical
requirements that are relevant to my audit in South

Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
code.
5.	I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.
Other Matter
6. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.
Unaudited Disclosure Notes
7.	In terms of section 125 (2)(e) of the MFMA, the
municipal entity is required to disclose particulars
of non-compliance with the MFMA in the financial
statements. This disclosure requirement did not form
part of the audit of the financial statements and,
accordingly, I do not express an opinion on it.
Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer for the
Financial Statements
8.	The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting
officer, is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with the GRAP and the requirements of the MFMA,
and for such internal control as the accounting officer
determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
9.	In preparing the financial statements, the accounting
officer responsible for assessing the municipal entity’s
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ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters relating to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the appropriate governance structure either intends to
liquidate the municipal entity or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor-General’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements
10.	My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
11.	A further description of my responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements is included in the annexure to
this auditor’s report.

Report on the Audit of the
Annual Performance Report
Introduction and Scope
12.	In accordance with the Public Audit Act 25 of 2004
(PAA) and the general notice issued in terms thereof,
I have a responsibility to report on the usefulness and
reliability of the reported performance information
against predetermined objectives for selected objectives
presented in the annual performance report. I performed
procedures to identify material findings but not to gather
evidence to express assurance.
13.	My procedures address the usefulness and reliability of
the reported performance information, which must be
based on the municipal entity’s approved performance
planning documents. I have not evaluated the
completeness and appropriateness of the performance
indicators included in the planning documents. My
procedures do not examine whether the actions taken
by the municipal entity enabled service delivery. My
procedures also do not extend to any disclosures or
assertions relating to planned performance strategies
and information in respect of future periods that may
be included as part of the reported performance
information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to
these matters.
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14.	I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported
performance information in accordance with the criteria
developed from the performance management and
reporting framework, as defined in the general notice,
for the following selected objectives presented in the
municipal entity’s annual performance report for the year
ended 30 June 2020:
Key Performance Area Objective
Local economic development

Pages
50 to 51

15.	I performed procedures to determine whether the
reported performance information was consistent
with the approved performance planning documents.
I performed further procedures to determine whether
the indicators and related targets were measurable and
relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported
performance information to determine whether it was
valid, accurate and complete.
16.	The material findings in respect of the usefulness and
reliability of the selected objectives are as follows:
KPI 12: Percentage completion of the Korsten /
Schauderville project (Moore Dyke)
17.	The method of calculation for measuring the planned
indicator was not clearly defined and related systems
and processes were not adequate to enable consistent
measurement and reliable reporting of performance
against the predetermined indicator definitions. As
a result, limitations were placed on the scope of my
work and I was unable to audit the reliability of the
achievement of 45% reported against a target of 70% in
the annual performance report.
Other Matters
18. I draw attention to the matters below.
Achievement of Planned Targets
19.	Refer to the annual performance report on pages
50 to 51 for information on the achievement of
planned targets for the year. This information should
be considered in the context of the material findings
on the usefulness and reliability of the reported
performance information in paragraphs 19 to 20 of
this report.
Adjustment of Material Misstatements
20.	I identified material misstatements in the annual
performance report submitted for auditing
performance information in paragraphs 19 to
20 of this report. These material misstatements
were in the reported performance information
of local economic development objective. As
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management subsequently corrected only some of
the misstatements, I raised material findings on the
usefulness and reliability of the reported performance
information. Those that were not corrected are
reported above.

Report on the Audit of
Compliance with Legislation
Introduction and Scope
21.	In accordance with the PAA and the general notice
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report
material findings on the municipal entity’s compliance
with specific matters in key legislation. I performed
procedures to identify findings but not to gather
evidence to express assurance.
22.	The material findings on compliance with specific
matters in key legislation are as follows:
	Annual Financial Statements, Performance and
Annual Reports
23.	The financial statements submitted for auditing
were not prepared in all material respects in
accordance with the requirements of section 122(
1) of the MFMA. Material misstatements of liabilities
identified by the auditors in the submitted financial
statement were subsequently corrected and the
supporting records were provided subsequently,
resulting in the financial statements receiving an
unqualified audit opinion.
Expenditure and Management
24.	Reasonable steps were not taken to prevent
fruitless and wasteful expenditure amounting to
R80 588, as disclosed in note 28 to the annual
financial statements, in contravention of section
95(d) of the MFMA. The majority of the disclosed
fruitless and wasteful expenditure was caused by
expenditure incurred through fines and penalties
charged by South African Revenue Service (SARS)
for late payments of Pay As You Earn (PAYE).
25.	Reasonable steps were not taken to prevent
irregular expenditure amounting to R80 981
as disclosed in note 29 to the annual financial
statements, as required by section 95(d) of the
MFMA.
Procurement and Contract Management
26.	Bid specifications for some of the tenders were
drafted in a biased manner and did not allow all
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27.	The accounting officer is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, which includes
the directors’ report, the audit committee’s report and
the company secretary’s certificate, as required by the
Companies Act 71 of 2008 (Companies Act). The other
information does not include the financial statements,
the auditor’s report and those selected objectives
presented in the annual performance report that have
been specifically reported in this auditor’s report.
28.	My opinion on the financial statements and findings on
the reported performance information and compliance
with legislation do not cover the other information
and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of
assurance conclusion on it.
29.	In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to
read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements and the selected objectives
presented in the annual performance report, or my
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.
30.	I did not receive the other information prior to the date
of this auditor’s report. When I do receive and read
this information, if I conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, I am required to communicate the
matter to those charged with governance and request
that the other information be corrected. If the other
information is not corrected, I may have to retract this
auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report as
appropriate. However, if it is corrected this will not be
necessary.

Introduction and Scope

I exercise
professional
judgement
and maintain
professional
scepticism
throughout
my audit of
the financial
statements
32.	Monitoring activities were established to ensure
oversight responsibility within the entity. However,
these were not fully effective in the current year, as
material misstatements on the submitted financial
statements and annual performance report were
identified and instances of non-compliance with laws
and regulations were also identified.
33.	Management did not develop proper recordkeeping mechanisms and daily and monthly controls
to ensure that data used to prepare the annual
performance report was accurate and complete.

1.	As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements
and the procedures performed on reported performance
information for selected objectives and on the municipal
entity’s compliance with respect to the selected subject
matters.
Financial Statements
2.	In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial
statements as described

in this auditor’s report, I also:
•	identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error; design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks; and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control
•	obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the municipal entity’s internal control
•	evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the accounting
officer
•	conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting
officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements. I also
conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the ability of the Mandela Bay Development
Agency to continue as a going concern. If I conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to
draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements about the
material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify my opinion on the financial
statements. My conclusions are based on the
information available to me at the date of this auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause a municipal entity to cease operating as a going
concern
•	evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and determine whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Communication with Those Charged with Governance

Internal Control Deficiencies
31.	I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the
financial statements, reported performance information
and compliance with applicable legislation; however,
my objective was not to express any form of assurance
on it. The matters reported below are limited to the
significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in
the findings on the annual performance report and the
findings on compliance with legislation included in this
report.
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Auditor General’s Responsibility for the
Audit

potential suppliers to offer their goods or services,
in contravention of SCM regulation 27(2)(a).

Other Information
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3.	I communicate with the accounting officer regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify
during my audit.
4.	I also confirm to the accounting officer that I have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to have
a bearing on my independence and, where applicable,
the actions taken to eliminate threats or the safeguards
applied.
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ANNEXURE C

4.2 Directors’
Responsibilities &
Approval
The Directors have a pleasure of submitting their report for the entity,
which forms part of the annual financial statements of the Non Profit
Company for the period ended 30 June 2020.

Establishment
The Mandela Bay Development Agency (MBDA) was formed
in 2004 with its initial objective, i.e. the urban regeneration of
the Central Business District (CBD). It commenced with its
work through the development of an Inner-city Local Spatial
Development Framework Plan (LSDF) in 2006. During this
period, the company evolved from an inner city Mandate
Area focus, extending to other emerging and developing
nodes and precincts which now includes township areas.
The MBDA has over the past 12 months undergone a
challenging transition period that has seen the strategic
direction of the organization being reviewed with a view
to becoming a forward looking agency dealing with the
complexities that are associated with development work.
The MBDA was mandated by the Nelson Mandela Bay
Metropolitan Municipality (NMBM) as a trans-disciplinary
implementing agent for programmes, projects and events
which have a number of defined objectives which include
inter alia:
Enabling social, spatial and economic transformation;
	Implementing existing and identify new projects,
programmes and events within its mandated areas
referred to as “designated localities, nodes and precincts
(of different scales)” which are to be aligned to the
various plans of the NMBM which include the following:
	To leverage existing or acquired resources such as
assets, property and provide for skills development to
ensure the successful implementation.
	To deliver catalytic programmes, special defined projects
and events.
Over the past fifteen years, the MBDA has implemented
a number of urban renewal projects, precinct upgrades,

security and cleansing programmes as well as other
strategic assignments that are collectively changing the face
of Nelson Mandela Bay and reinvigorating the economic life
in key developing nodes and precincts which has resulted
in an expansion of its mandate and strategic objectives in
line with the Integrated Development Plan (IDP) of its parent
municipality NMBM. The NMBM mandated the MBDA to
take over the operations and management of its Science
Centre in Uitenhage with effect from 01 July 2017. The 3–
year mandate for the MBDA managing the NMB Stadium
operations terminated on 31 December 2019. The Council
reviewed the mandate for a month to month basis that
continued during the period under review.

General Review
The MBDA mandate includes the rejuvenation of neglected
township areas, from the initial focus on the inner city and
its surrounds only and this initiative has now gained much
momentum as the challenges of inequalities in townships
and other previously disadvantaged areas are addressed
by the NMBM. To date the MBDA has played a key role
particularly in addressing the urban decay and degeneration
in the inner cities of Port Elizabeth and Uitenhage and
the municipal infrastructure and environmental upgrading
projects that it has been implementing in the townships have
been widely welcomed and positively received by various
key stakeholders. The mandate received from the NMBM
to manage the NMB Stadium is expected to be for a limited
duration until the NMBM decides how to deal with this key
asset in the future.
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Legislation Framework
The entity complied with all the relevant sections of:
(a) Companies Act 71 of 2008
(b) Companies Amendment Act 3 of 2011
(c)	Local Government: Municipal Finance Management Act
56 of 2003
(d) Local Government: Municipal Systems Act 32 of 2000

Financial Results
The financial results are set out in the attached annual
financial statements and are aligned closely with the
classification used by the NMBM.

Key Activities
The table below depicts the 2019/20 capital programmes
which were implemented by the MBDA. The MBDA has
made strides in the performance of capital projects with an
overall spending of 48%.

To date the
MBDA has
played a key
role particularly
in addressing
the urban
decay and
degeneration in
the inner cities
of Port Elizabeth
and Uitenhage...

Programmes

Projects

Baakens River Valley Programme

Pedestrian Bridge, Refurbishment of St Peters Church

Happy Valley / Bayworld /
Telkom Park Programme

Public Participation and Stakeholder Engagements for
redevelopment of Bayworld, Feasibility of Operating and Financial
Models of a possible ICC.

Uitenhage / Despatch Programme

Refurbishments of Uitenhage Railway Sheds

Goven Mbeki Avenue / CBD Port Elizabeth
Programme

Development of an Infrastructure plan for the Govan Mbeki Avenue
Refurbishments)

New Brighton / Red Location Precinct
Programme

New Brighton Swimming Pool, New Brighton Cultural Precinct
Development

Korsten / Schauderville

Neave Street Park Upgrade

Helenvale SPUU Programme

Pedestrian Walkway, Security lighting, Safer school, Safe parks and
sportsfield, Victim support Centre, Youth Centres
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St Peters Church
	The project comprises of wooden walkway deck with a
guntined stabilised retaining wall to preserve the St Peter
church ruin. Additionally a mural was installed that was
endorsed by Council.
Phase 2 completed, phase 3 in planning stage
Baakens River Bridge
	Contractor completed works on site (erection of the
bridge and landscaping), project currently in defects
liability period. The pedestrian allows for linkage from
Lower Valley over the Baakens river linking to Govan
Mbeki Avenue.
South End Mixed Use
	Phase 1 concluded which included the Environmental
Impact Assessment (EIA), developing a Framework Plan
and Rezoning of land parcels to its most flexible use.
	Final close- out report to still be submitted once the
Rezoning process is completed by the city.
Fort Fredricks
	The comprises of proposed zipline that will link the Fort
Fredericks to the lower Baakens valley. This project
designed and planned in conjunction the Baakens
pathway that leads from the Baakens Pedestrian bridge
to the landing of the zip line deck.
Baakens Parkway
	Baakens pathway comprises of a walkway from the
Baakens pedestrian bridge along Lower valley road and
ceases at the open space along Ellis Street. This project
includes landscaping and improving the vicinity to unlock
tourism potential.
Bayworld Demolition
	Operational cost, Application for a demolition permit
conducted. The project is currently in the inception stage
with the current discussion of developing a digitised
centre that produces an emissive experience in a virtual
space. Additionally, the facility in future is envisaged to
be a research and rehabilitation centre for marine animal.
Uitenhage Railway Sheds
	Contractor appointed during 19/20 financial year.
Construction currently underway. Once completed it
will have similarities to the Tramways building which
is a multi-purpose facility. The existing structure of
the Railway shed will be preserved with structural
stabilisation being done on the inside of the facility.
Moore Dyke Sportsfield Upgrade
	Consulting Engineers appointed.
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	RFP for Construction Tender completed.
	Construction Tender advertised. The facility will be multi
code facility with the construction of a new clubhouse,
refurbishing of the old facility including the caretakers
cottage, reconfigure the sport codes attain optimal use
of the facility.
Cultural Programmes Conducted
	Creative and cultural content development has been
affected as an experience that physically connects
people. In this year we needed to be creative and
explore the digital new way of working. This meant
cultural work continues but in the digital space.
Psycho-Social Programme
	Youth services in Helenvale is back in operation from the
HRC. New Brighton food gardens are in implementation
phase. Uitenhage stakeholders has requested for
covid-19 awareness again as the second wave is
problematic in the area. Psycho social programs as
an interventions is a challenge as the stakeholders
are primarily focused on capital projects as a priority.
Teenage pregnancy and mother programs are being
finalised in Schauderville Korsten.
New Brighton Development
	A consultant was appointed to compile a business plan.
This Programme compiles a list of project through social
engagements with the community to develop a business
plan where clear objectives can be attained and
translated into projects. The initiative of this programme
is Beautify the area and unlock the creative sector in the
area.
New Brighton Development
	A consultant was appointed to compile a business plan.
This Programme compiles a list of project through social
engagements with the community to develop a business
plan where clear objectives can be attained and
translated into projects. The initiative of this programme
is Beautify the area and unlock the creative sector in the
area.
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of rehabilitation and upgrading of the existing school
sporting facilities to promote activities that will address
the objective of the Programme. 4 schools sports
facilities in Helenvale were revamped, the works
comprising of Netball, cricket pitches, cricket practice
nets, rugby/soccer field upgrades and building of 5
a-side soccer field.
SPUU: Safer Sportfield
	Practical Completion was achieved on the Project with
only the additional works that required completion. The
upgraded facility initially had 1 field but with the upgrade
the existing field was refurbished, a new club house
built, an additional soccer with 2 fenced 5 aside soccer
pitches and a caretakers cottage constructed.
SPUU: Safer Electrification
	This project is linked with the Pedestrian route that will
be completed in the 20/21 Financial year. The project
comprised of installation of vandal proof lighting to all
existing and new lights that traverse the play route. The
purpose of these lights is light up dark alleyways where
children walk to school where crime is prevalent.
SPUU: Victim Support Centre
	Service Provider Appointed.
	Project is under progress.
	Prefab units completed off-site, exact position to be
finalised between MBDA, SAPS and DPW. The facility
will serve as an access point for domestic violence
victims, where they can be accommodated and taken of.
SPUU: Youth Facilities
	Refurbishing and delivery of containers to completed.
	Joining and sealing of containers on site completed.
	Landscaping and service connections outstanding. The
project comprises of modularised container facilities.
This will be designed and activate in a manner where
youth can congregate is a safe space with alternative to
violence programmes being implemented.
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Govan Mbeki Avenue: Donkin Reserve Phase 4
	Negotiations with existing consultant was appointed to
implement the works. Initial project was terminated and
a new SLA had to be put in place for the consultant. The
project once completed will consist of an outdoor gym,
kiddies play area and an international size 5 a-side field.

Directors
Non-executive directors of the company as at 30
June 2020 were:
Mputumi William Goduka (Chairperson)
Kasaven Govender
Bongani Gxilishe
Rajesh Dana
Sithole Mabi Mbanga
Masalamani Odayar
Nomnikelo Kondlo
Glenda Perumal
Mandlakazi Ruth Skefile
Vuyani Galen Dyantyi
Mxolisi Moolman
Khwezi Gideon Ntshanyana

Senior Management
During the period under review none of the two senior
managers completed the minimum finance competency
level requirements for senior officials within the MBDA. This
requirement is in terms of a National Treasury Regulation
(Government Gazette 29967). In line with exemption
notice 91 subsequently issued in February 2017, affected
employees were granted a further 18 months within which
to meet these requirements, with newly appointed affected
employees granted 18 months within which to meet these
requirements from date of their appointment.

New Brighton Swimming Pool
	Phase 1 & 2 of the project completed, currently the
facility is closed due to lockdown. The facility will be
handed over to NMBM SRAC Project is completed
but the facility is closed due to water restrictions.
The intended purpose of the pool was learn to swim
initiatives and teach children from area water safety.
SPUU: Safer Schools
	The SPUU programme is fund in collaboration by
the KfW Bank and the metro. The project consisted

Preparer of Annual Financial Statements:
Zimbali Khwela (Finance Manager)
The company secretary is Mbulelo Matiwane
whose business and postal addresses are:
Postal Address:
Mandela Bay Development Agency
P.O. Box 74
Port Elizabeth, 6000

Business Address:
1st Floor
Tramways Building
Corner Lower Valley Road and South Union Street
Central,Port Elizabeth, 6001

The Annual Financial Statements set on pages 5
to 49 were scheduled to be tabled for Board of
Directors approval on 28 August 2020. However
this was not possible due to the Board of
Directors not being appointed timeously. This will
be ratified in due course.
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Statement of Financial Performance
Notes

2020

2019

Assets

Figures in Rand

Notes

2020

2019

Revenue

Current Assets

113 533 656

81 805 108

Revenue from exchange transactions

15 387 204

47 539 728

14 441 641

46 062 895

945 563

1 476 833

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

147 197 581

101 896 760

Transfers and subsidies

147 197 581

101 896 760

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents

1

43 834 280

10 597 485

Transfers and subsidies

Receivables from exchange transactions

2

67 673 829

63 516 958

Other Revenue

Receivables from non-exchange transactions

3

2 100

159 158

Inventory
VAT Receivable

4

148 598

162 030

12

1 874 849

7 369 476

Other Revenue
Non-Current Assets

20 926 761

19 122 209

Intangible Assets

5

3 12 051

71 714

Property, Plant & Equipment

6

20 364 211

18 799 995

Heritage Assets

7

250 500

250 500

134 460 417

100 927 317

Total Assets

Total Revenue

13

162 584 785

149 436 488

Other Income

14

3 553 676

3 836 883

Finance Income

2 015 740

2 456 337

Sundry Income

1 537 936

1 380 546

166 138 461

153 273 371

Total Income

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

111 024 784

77 777 625

Expenditure
Employee Related costs

15

-35 453 543

-29 583 295

Remuneration of Directors

16

-1 312 000

-909 500

6/5

-1 112 744

-731 295

2

-495 015

-469 812

Contracted Services

17

-13 655 089

-12 401 662

-34 769 534

-39 423 659

Payables from exchange transactions

8

37 136 552

30 074 173

Payables from non-exchange transactions

9

197 428

186 221

Provisions

10

5 309 524

2 911 811

Unspent grants

11

68 381 280

44 605 420

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables from exchange transactions

8

Depreciation and Amortisation
Debt Impairment

84 707

1 838 762

Capital projects costs

18

84 707

1 838 762

Other Operating costs

19

Total Expenditure
Total Liabilities

111 109 491

-77 300 539

-62 712 264

-164 098 465

-146 231 486

2 039 997

7 041 886

-

-1 891

2 039 997

7 039 995

79 616 388
Operating Surplus

Net Assets

2 3 350 926

21 310 929

Profit/(Loss) on sale of assets

Accumulated surplus

2 3 350 926

21 310 929

Surplus before taxation

Total Net Assets

23 350 926

21 310 929

Taxation (exempt)
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6

-

-

2 039 997

7 039 995
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Statement of Cash Flow

Contribution from
Shareholder

Accumulated
Surplus

Total
Net Assets

Figures in Rand

Notes

2020

2019

Receipts

240 854 497

189 254 006

Transfers and Subsidies

214 486 449

161 149 934

Interest received

1 365 621

2 340 932

Other Revenue

25 002 428

25 763 140

Payments

-204 542 250

-210 503 302

Suppliers

-158 185 036

-168 936 335

-46 357 215

-41 566 967

21

36 312 247

-21 249 296

Purchase of Property, plant and equipment

6

-2 810 407

-7 520 964

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

6

-

14 407

Purchase of intangible assets

5

-265 045

-39 800

-3 075 453

-7 546 357

-

-

33 236 794

-28 795 653

10 597 486

39 393 139

43 834 280

10 597 486

Cash flows from operating activities
Balance at 01 July 2018
Current Assets

-

14 270 934

14 270 934

Surplus for the year - as previously reported

-

7 039 995

7 039 995

Balance at 01 July 2019
-

21 310 929

21 310 929

Surplus for the year - as previously reported

-

2 039 997

2 039 997

Balance at 30 June 2020

-

23 350 926

23 350 926

Employee costs
Net cash from/(used) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Net cash flows from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash/cash equivalents at the year end
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Budget on Accrual Basis
Approved
Budget

Adjustments
(inch
Virements)

Final
Budget

Actual
amounts on a
comparable
basis

Difference
between final
budget and
actual (R)

Actual vs
Budget (%)

Reference

Financial Performance

Figures in Rand

Approved
Budget

Adjustments
(inch
Virements)

Final
Budget

Actual
amounts on a
comparable
basis

Difference
between final
budget and
actual (R)

Actual vs
Budget (%)

1 023 419

-873 000

150 419

1 537 936

-1 387 517

1022%

Note 35 - A

Service charges

-

-

-

-

-

0%

Investment revenue

2 323 419

-823 419

1 500 000

2 015 740

-515 740

134%

Note 35 - B

Investment revenue

-

-

-

-

-

0%

130 730 290

38 555 083

169 285 373

112 999 158

56 286 215

67%

Note 35 - C

Transfers and subsidies

60 401 234

-

60 401 234

48 640 065

11 761 169

81%

300 000

1 243 000

1 543 000

945 563

597 437

61%

Note 35 - D

Other own revenue

16 200 000

-

16 200 000

5 319 361

10 880 639

33%

Total Revenue (excluding capital
transfers and contributions)

76 601 234

-

76 601 234

53 959 426

22 641 808

70%

Employee Related costs

Other own revenue
Total Revenue (excluding capital
transfers and contributions)
Employee Related costs

134 377 128

38 101 664

172 478 792

117 498 397

54 980 395

68%

37 920 038

2 814 737

40 734 775

35 453 543

5 281 232

87%

Remuneration of Board Members

1 211 050

33 000

1 244 050

1 312 000

-67 950

105%

Depreciation and debt impairment

919 809

51 186

970 995

1 607 759

-636 764

166%

Other expenditure

37 569 466

13 408 626

50 978 092

42 315 564

8 662 528

83%

Total Expenditure

77 620 363

16 307 549

93 927 912

80 688 866

13 239 046

86%

Surplus before taxation

56 756 765

21 794 115

78 550 880

36 809 530

41 741 350

47%

-

-

-

-

-

0%

Taxation (exempt)
Actual Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
on Comparable Basis

56 756 765

21 794 115

78 550 880

36 809 530

41 741 350

Note 35 - E

18 500 000

-

18 500 000

15 149 234

3 350 766

82%

Remuneration of Board Members

-

-

-

-

-

0%

Note 35 - F

Depreciation and debt impairment

-

-

-

-

-

0%

Note 35 - C

Other expenditure

45 477 826

-

45 477 826

37 102 406

8 375 420

82%

Total Expenditure

63 977 826

-

63 977 826

52 251 639

11 726 187

82%

Surplus before taxation

12 623 408

-

12 623 408

1 707 786

10 915 622

0%

-

-

-

-

-

0%

12 623 408

-

12 623 408

1 707 786

10 915 622

0%

Taxation (exempt)
Actual Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
on Comparable Basis

47%

Capital Expenditure
53 536 729

22 917 532

76 454 261

14 470 985

61 983 276

19%

Note 35 - C

1 896 616

-

1 896 616

23 374 001

-21 477 386

1232%

Note 35 - G

Borrowing

-

-

-

-

-

0%

Internally generated funds

-

-

-

-

-

0%

55 433 344

22 917 532

78 350 876

37 844 986

40 505 890

48%

39 810 953

-19 223 000

20 587 953

113 533 656

-92 945 703

551%

Note 35 - H

9 291 120

2 416 089

11 707 209

20 926 761

-9 219 552

179%

Note 35 - I
Note 35 - J

Public contributions and donations

Total sources of capital funds

Total non current assets
Total current liabilities

46 466 350

-29 000 000

17 466 350

111 024 784

-93 558 434

636%

Total non current liabilities

-

-

-

84 707

- 84 707

0%

Community wealth/Equity

2 635 723

12 193 571

14 829 294

23 350 926

-8 521 632

157%

Transfers and subsidies

5 000 000

-

5 000 000

2 374 117

2 625 883

47%

Public contributions and donations

-

-

-

-

-

0%

Borrowing

-

-

-

-

-

0%

Internally generated funds

-

-

-

-

-

0%

5 000 000

-

5 000 000

2 374 117

2 625 883

47%

Net cash from (used) operating

57 676 574

19 451 784

77 128 358

36 312 247

40 816 111

47%

Note 35 - K

Net cash from (used) investing

-55 433 344

-22 917 532

-78 350 876

-3 075 453

-75 275 424

4%

Note 35 - L

Net cash from (used) financing

-

-

-

-

-

0%

Note 35 - M

2 243 230

-3 465 748

-1 222 518

33 236 794

-34 459 313

-2719%

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

17 567 723

19 810 953

19 810 953

10 597 486

9 213 467

53%

Cash/cash equivalents at year end

19 810 953

16 345 205

18 588 435

43 834 280

-25 245 845

236%

A threshold of 5% has been applied in the explanation of variances

Cash flows

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Note 35 - O

Capital Expenditure

Total sources of capital funds

Financial Position
Total current assets

Note 35 - N

Capital expenditure & funds
sources

Capital expenditure & funds sources
Transfers and subsidies

Reference

Financial Performance

Service charges

Transfers and subsidies
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Budget on Accrual Basis
Figures in Rand
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Accounting Policies
1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements
	The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice
(GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 122(3) of the Municipal Finance Management Act (Act
56 of 2003). In addition, these Annual Financial Statements include mandatory disclosures in accordance with the Municipal Finance
Management Act (Act No 56 of 2003) and related regulations.
	With respect to accounting standards for material transactions, events or conditions not covered by Directive 5, the MBDA has
developed accounting policies in accordance with paragraphs 8, 10 and 11 of GRAP 3, as read with Directive 5.
	Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses were not offset, except where offsetting is either required or permitted by a Standard of GRAP.
All figures have been rounded to the nearest Rand. The accounting policies applied are consistent with those used to present the
previous year’s Annual Financial Statements, unless explicitly stated.
1.1 Reporting Entry
	Mandela Bay Development Agency is a municipal entity (registered non-profit company) with the Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality
(NMBM) as its parent municipality. The entity’s registered address is The City Hall, Port Elizabeth. The entity is situated in the Nelson
Mandela Bay Municipality of the Eastern Cape Province. The entity has been established by the NMBM with the assistance of the
Industrial Development Corporation (IDC) to project manage urban regeneration of the inner metro precinct and emerging development
nodes in Nelson Mandela Bay with a view to promoting economic and tourism development.
1.2 Basis for Presentation
1.2.1 Statement of Compliance
	
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP)
Financial Reporting Framework as set by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) and prescribed by the Minister of Finance in
Directive 5.
1.2.2 Basis of Measurement
	
These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical cost
convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise.
1.2.3 Use of Estimates and Judgements
	
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
	In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are described in the following notes:
a. Provisions
		Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events and it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
		The amount recognised as a provision shall be the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the
reporting date.
		Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that there
will be an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential to settle obligation, the provision is reversed.
		 Workmen’s compensation provision is calculated as a percentage of total earnings for the year.
		The entity does not recognise a contingent liability or contingent asset. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits
is probable.
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b. Trade Receivables and/or Loans and Receivables
		The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment
loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, management makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cashflows from a financial asset.
c. Impairment Testing
		The recoverable amounts of individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use calculations and fair values
less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the assumption may
change which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of tangible assets
and intangible assets.
		The entity reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cashflows are largely independent of cashflows
of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future
cashflows for each group of assets. Expected future cashflows used to determine the value in use of tangible assets are inherently
uncertain and could materially change overtime. They are significantly affected by a number of factors, together with economic
factors.
d. Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets
		The entity’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for the property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets. This estimate is based on an industry norm. Management will adjust the depreciation charge where
useful lives are less than previously estimated useful lives.
e. Effective Interest Rate
		The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future cashflows.
f. Allowance for Impairment
		On receivables an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired.
The impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cashflows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition.
1.3 Presentation Currency
	These annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand. The functional currency of the MBDA is South African Rand.
Financial values are rounded to the nearest one Rand.
1.4 Going Concern Assumption
	These annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. On 21 June 2019 NMBM Council adopted the
2019/20 to 2021/22 budget. This three-year Medium Term Revenue and Expenditure Framework (MTREF), supporting the on-going
delivery of MBDA projects to residents, reflected that the budget was funded over the three-year period. However the Service Delivery
Agreement between the MBDA and the NMBM has not been outstanding for a prolonged period. This has resulted in the non-payment
of the quarterly grant tranches of the MBDA for the 4th quarter of the 2018/19 year. Should this go on for a prolonged period, this would
negatively affect the MBDA’s ability to make payments as and when due. Although this would not necessarily be the determining factor
in the entity’s ability to operate as a going concern. It does present a significant threat to continuing operations.
1.5 Principle Agent Transactions
	During the previous period there was a transfer of the management of the Nelson Mandela Bay Multi-Purpose Stadium operations to
the agency by the NMBM, where a principal/agent relationship exists between the parties. It was established that MBDA will function
as principal on NMB Stadium related expenditure and act as agent on the income earned as a result of NMB Stadium activities. An
exception is liquor income as the licence is in the name of MBDA.
1.6 Unauthorised Expenditure
	Unauthorised expenditure is expenditure that has not been budgeted for, expenditure that is not in terms of the conditions of an
allocation received from another sphere of government, Municipality or organ of state and expenditure in the form of a grant that is not
permitted in terms of the Municipal Finance Management Act (Act No.56 of 2003). Unauthorised expenditure incurred for the financial
period is accounted for as a normal expense in the Statement of Financial Performance but form part of disclosure of unauthorised,
irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure in the notes to the Financial Statements.
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Comparable Basis

	Irregular expenditure is expenditure that is contrary to the Municipal Finance Management Act (Act No.56 of 2003), the Municipal
Systems Act (Act No.32 of 2000) and the Public Office Bearers Act (Act No.20 of 1998) or is in contravention of the entity’s Supply
Chain Management Policy.

	All comparisons of budget and actual amounts are presented on a comparable basis to the budget. The entity is typically subject
to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), which is given effect through authorising
legislation, appropriation or similar.

	Irregular expenditure incurred for the financial period is accounted for as a normal expense in the Statement of Financial Performance
but form part of disclosure on unauthorised, irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure in the notes to the Financial Statements.

	General purpose financial reporting by the entity shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and used in accordance
with the legally adopted budget.

1.8 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

	The approved budget is prepared on an accrual basis and presented by functional classification linked to performance outcome
objectives.

	Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised.
	Fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred for the financial period is accounted for as a normal expense in the Statement of Financial
Performance but form part of disclosure of unauthorised, irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure in the note to the financial
statements.
1.9 Recovery of Unauthorised, Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
	The recovery of unauthorised, irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is based on legislated procedures and is recognised when
the recovery thereof from the responsible officials is probable. The recovery of unauthorised, irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure
is treated as other income.
1.10 Related Parties
	The entity has processes and controls in place to aid in the identification of related parties. A related party is a person or an entity with
the ability to control or jointly control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that
is subject to common control, or joint control. Related party relationships where control exists are disclosed regardless of whether any
transaction took place between the parties during the reporting period.
Where transactions occurred between the entity and one or more related parties, and these transactions were not within:
• 	Normal supplier and/or client/recipient relationships on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is
reasonable to expect the entity to have adopted if dealing with that individual entity or person in the same circumstances; and
• Terms and conditions within the normal operating parameters established by the entity’s legal mandate.
Further details about those transactions are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
1.11 Presentation of Budget Information in the Financial Statements
Presentation of a Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts
	The entity presents a comparison of the budget amounts for which it is held publicly accountable and actual amounts as additional
budget columns in the financial statements currently presented in accordance with Standards of GRAP24. The comparison of budget
and actual amounts present separately for each level of legislative oversight:
(a)

The approved and final budget amounts;

(b)

The actual amounts on a comparable basis; and

(c) 	By way of note disclosure, an explanation of material differences between the budget for which the entity is held publicly
accountable and actual amounts.
Presentation and Disclosure
	The entity presents a comparison of budget and actual amounts as additional budget columns in the primary financial statements
because the financial statements and the budget are prepared on a comparable basis.
Changes from Approved to Final Budget
	The entity presents an explanation of whether changes between the approved and final budget are a consequence of reallocations
within the budget or of other factors:

	The financial statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting therefore a comparison with the budgeted amounts for
the reporting period have been included in the Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts. Comparative information is
not required.
1.12 Commitments
	Items are classified as commitments when the entity has committed itself to future transactions that will normally result in an
outflow of cash.
Disclosure is done to the extent that it has not already been recognised elsewhere in the Financial Statements.
Capital commitments are treated as follows:
• 	The aggregate amount of capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date, to the extent that the amount has not been
recorded in the financial statements; and
• If a commitment is for a period longer than a year.
Commitments are disclosed only to the extent that they relate to items other than the routine business of the entity.
Commitments are disclosed in the following circumstances:
• Unrecorded capital expenditure approved and contracted for before/at reporting date;
• Unrecorded capital expenditure approved but not yet contracted for at reporting date; and
• Unrecorded capital expenditure approved after reporting date.
	Material contracts/awards entered into after the reporting date, but prior to the approval of the AFS are disclosed under subsequent
events.
Commitment are disclosed when they become non-cancellable or only cancellable at significant cost.
	In terms of the MBDA SCM Policy the entity is obliged to adhere to a compulsory 14 day non-objection period for intended
appointments.
	Thus commitments are considered non-cancellable only when the 14 day non-objection period has lapsed or when the objections
received have been resolved (which ever is later).
1.13 Property, Plant and Equipment
Initial Recognition
	Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, other than investment property, or for administrative purposes and are expected to be used during more
than one year.
	The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic
benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost or fair value of the item can be measured
reliably.

(a) It was the same in the previous year.
(b) 	In a report issued before, at the same time as, or in conjunction with the financial statements, and shall include a cross reference
to the report in the notes to the financial statements.
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Impairment

	Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised as assets on acquisition date and are initially recorded at cost. Where an
asset is acquired by the entity for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost is deemed to be equal to the
fair value of that asset on the date acquired.

	Recognition and measurement of an impairment loss for an item of property, plant and equipment. An entity shall assess at each
reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity shall estimate the
recoverable amount of the asset.

	The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the entity. The cost also includes the initial
estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located.

	The carrying amount of an asset is reduced to its recoverable amount if, and only if, its recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount. The impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus and deficit.

	When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
	Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a similar asset, the acquired asset is initially measured at
the carrying value of the asset given up.
	Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a dissimilar asset, the acquired item is initially measured
at the fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value is not determinable, the allocated deemed cost is the carrying amount of the
asset given up.
	Major spare parts and servicing equipment qualify as property, plant and equipment when the entity expects to use them during more
than one period. Similarly, if the major spare parts and servicing equipment can be used only in connection with a specific item of
property, plant and equipment, they are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
Subsequent Measurement
	Subsequent to initial recognition, items of property, plant and equipment (other than land) are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
	Subsequent to initial recognition, land is measured at cost and is not depreciated because it has an indefinite useful life. Where the
entity replaces parts of an asset, it de recognises the part of the asset replaced and capitalises the new component. Subsequent
expenditure including major spare parts and servicing equipment qualify as property, plant and equipment if the recognition criteria
are met.
Depreciation
	Depreciation is calculated on the depreciable amount, using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the component
assets. Components of assets that are significant in relation to the whole asset and that have different useful lives are depreciated
separately.
	The component assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial year-end and if
expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in estimate in accordance with the standard of
GRAP on accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors.
	The depreciation charge for each reporting period is recognised in surplus or deficit, unless it is included in the carrying amount of
another asset. The annual depreciation rates for the current and previous year are based on the following average asset useful lives:

Derecognition
	The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no
further economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying value and is
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. Residual values are assumed to be zero, unless otherwise stated.
1.14 Heritage Assets
Initial Recognition and Measurement
	Heritage assets are assets that have cultural, historical, environmental, natural, scientific or technological significance that are held
indefinitely for the benefit of present and future generations.
	Heritage assets are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow
to the entity and the cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably.
	When an asset, does not meet the initial recognition criteria of a heritage asset, the entity discloses the relevant and useful information
about such assets in the notes to the financial statements.
Heritage assets are initially recognised at cost on acquisition date.
	The cost is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by the entity.
	Where an asset is acquired by the entity for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost is deemed to be
equal to the fair value of that asset on the date acquired. Where an asset is acquired in exchange for a similar asset, the acquired asset
is initially measured at the carrying value of the asset given up.
	Where an asset is acquired in exchange for a dissimilar asset, the acquired item is initially measured at the fair value (the cost). If the
acquired item’s fair value is not determinable, the allocated deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset given up.
Subsequent Measurement
	Subsequent to initial recognition, the entity uses the cost model to measure its heritage assets. After recognition as an asset, a class of
heritage assets is carried at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The table below reflects the class of heritage assets and
the estimated useful life range in years:
Heritage Sites

Useful Life Range in Years

Assets

Useful Life in Years

Memorial and Statues

Indefinite Life

Computer Equipment

3-8

Heritage Sites

Indefinite Life

Office Equipment

5 - 10

Museums

Indefinite Life

Furniture and Fittings

10

Art Works

Indefinite Life

Motor Vehicles

4-5

Collection of Rare Books and Manuscripts

Indefinite Life

Containers

15

Leasehold Asset

5

Land

Indefinite Life

Buildings

15 - 50
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Impairment
	The entity does not depreciate its heritage assets, but at each financial year end, it assesses whether there is an indication that the
assets may be impaired. If such an indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable amount or the recoverable service amount of
the heritage asset.
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Derecognition
	Heritage assets are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic benefits or service potential
expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of a heritage asset is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying value and is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.
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Amortisation and Impairment
	Amortisation is charged to write off the cost of intangible assets over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
Amortisation of an asset begins when it is available for use.
The annual amortisation rates are based on the following estimated average asset useful lives:

1.15 Intangible Assets
Initial Recognition
	An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance. Examples include computer software, licences
and development costs.
	The entity recognises an intangible asset in its Statement of Financial Position only when it is probable that the expected future
economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost or fair value of the asset can
be measured reliably.
	Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Where an intangible asset is acquired by the entity for no or nominal consideration (i.e.
a non-exchange transaction), its initial cost at the date of acquisition is measured at its fair value as the date of acquisition.
Intangible Assets Acquired through Non-exchange Transactions
Internally generated intangible assets:
Research Phase
	The entity does not recognise any intangible asset arising from a research phase of an internal project. Expenditure on research phase
of an internal project is recognised as an expense when incurred.
Development Phase
An intangible asset arising from development phase is recognised if, and only if the entity can demonstrate all of the following:
a)		 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so it will be available for use or resale;
b)		 Its intention to complete the intangible asset and use it or sell it;
c)		 Its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
d)		 How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
e)		 The availability of technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
f)		 Its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Exchange of Assets
	The cost of an intangible asset acquired in exchange for another is measured at fair value unless the fair value of neither the asset
received nor the asset given up is reliably measurable. If the acquired asset is not measured at fair value, its cost is measured at the
carrying amount of the asset given up.
Subsequent Measurement
Intangible assets are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
	The cost of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life where that useful life is finite. The amortisation expense on intangible
assets with finite lives is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance in the expense category consistent with the function of
the intangible asset.
	Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but are tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the cash
generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.
	Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins when development
is complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortised over the period of expected future benefit. During the period of
development, the asset is tested for impairment annually.

Assets

Useful Life in Years

Computer Software

3-5

	The amortisation period, the amortisation method and residual value for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at each
reporting date and any changes are recognised as a change in accounting estimate in the Statement of Financial Performance.
Derecognition
	Intangible assets are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic benefits or service potential
expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an intangible asset is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying value and is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.
1.16 Construction Contracts
	When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured based on the proportion of the contract costs incurred
for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of
completion. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be measured
reliably and its receipt is considered probable.
	Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract
costs incurred that is probable to be recovered. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
	When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
	Where contract costs incurred to date exceed capital grants received, the deficit is shown as amounts due from funders for contract
work. For contracts where capital grants received exceed contract costs incurred to date, the surplus is shown as the amounts due to
funders for contract work. Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the statement of financial position, as
a liability, as unspent conditional grants. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the funder are included in the statement
of financial position under trade and other receivables.
1.17 Financial Instruments
Initial Recognition
	The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its Statement of Financial Position when, and only when, the entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The entity recognises financial assets using trade date accounting.
Distinguishing Liabilities and Residual Interests
	A financial instrument or its component parts is classified on initial recognition as a financial liability, a financial asset or residual
interest in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial liability, a financial asset
and a residual interest.
	
Compound Financial Instruments
The entity evaluates the terms of a financial instrument to determine whether it contains both a liability and residual interest
component. Such components are classified separately as financial liabilities or residual interests. Initial Recognition The entity
recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its Statement of Financial Position when, and only when, the entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The entity recognises financial assets using trade date accounting.
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Initial Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
When a financial asset or financial liability is recognised initially, the entity measures it at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset or a financial liability not subsequently measured at fair value, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.
The transaction price usually equals the fair value at initial recognition, except in certain circumstances, for example where interest free
credit is granted or where credit is granted at a below market rate of interest.
Concessionary Loans
The entity first assesses whether the substance of a concessionary loan meets the definition of a financial instrument. On initial
recognition, the entity analyses a concessionary loan into its component parts and accounts for each component separately. The
entity accounts for that part of a concessionary loan that is:
a)
		
b)
		

A social benefit in accordance with the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, where it is
he issuer of the loan; or
Non-exchange revenue, in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and
Transfers), where it is the recipient of the loan.

The part of the concessionary loan that is a social benefit or non-exchange revenue is determined as the difference between the
fair value of the loan and the loan proceeds, either paid or received.
After initial recognition, an entity measures concessionary loans in accordance with the subsequent measurement criteria set out
for all financial instruments.
Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value, amortised cost or cost.
All financial assets and financial liabilities are measured after initial recognition using the following categories:
a) Financial instruments at fair value
		 • Instruments held for trading.
		 • Non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at fair value
			 at initial recognition.
		 • Financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments at cost.
b) Financial instruments at amortised cost
		 • Non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have fixed or determinable payments, excluding
			 those instruments that the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition or are held for trading.
c) Financial instruments at cost
		 • Investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
		 be reliably measured.
The entity assesses which instruments should be subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost or cost, based on the definitions
of financial instruments at fair value, financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments at cost as set out above.
All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are subject to an impairment review.
Gains and losses
A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or financial liability measured at fair value is recognised in
surplus or deficit.
For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when
the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or impaired or through the amortisation process.
Impairment of financial assets
All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are subject to an impairment review. The entity assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
The entity first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If an entity determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset
in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment. Impairment of financial assets.
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If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. The amount of the loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor‘s credit rating), the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting an allowance account. The reversal may not result in a carrying amount of the financial
asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is
reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit.
Financial Assets Measured at Cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual interest that is not measured
at fair value because its fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed.
Derecognition of Financial Assets
The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date accounting.
The entity derecognises a financial asset only when:
a) The contractual right to the cash flow from the financial asset expire, are settled or waived;
b) The entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or
c) Despite having retained significant risks and rewards, the entity has transferred control of the asset to another party.
Derecognition of Financial Liabilities
The entity derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position when it is extinguished, that is, when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.
Presentation:
• Interest, losses and gains.
• Interest, losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue
		 or expense in surplus or deficit.
Offsetting a Financial Asset and a Financial Liability
The entity does not offset financial assets and financial liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position unless a legal right to set off
exists and the parties intend to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Policies Relating to Specific Financial Instruments
1.17.1 Investments and Other Financial Assets
	
The annual Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable
transaction costs.
The entity had no financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity investments or available-for-sale financial assets.
1.17.2 Trade and Other Receivables
	Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables and are measured at initial recognition at fair value plus direct
transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss
to reflect irrecoverable amounts. Amortised cost refers to the initial carrying amount, plus interest, less repayments and impairments.
	Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in surplus or deficit when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 90 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable
is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
	An impairment of trade receivables is accounted for by reducing the carrying amount of trade receivables through the use of an
allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of financial performance within operating expenses.
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When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables.
	If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the carrying
value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
1.17.3 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.
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Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs.
The entity’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables as well as construction contract retention creditors.
1.20.3 Construction Contract Retention Creditors
	The entity received grant funding from it’s parent municipality to undertake certain infrastructure development projects. It accounts
for costs incurred on construction of these infrastructure development projects using the percentage of completion method which is
certified by the consulting engineer. Retentions payable within 12 months after financial year end is treated as current and any retentions
payable over 12 months after financial year end is treated as non-current.

	Cash includes cash on hand and cash with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are held with
registered banking institutions with maturities of three months or less and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For the
purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash on hand and deposits held on call with banks.

1.20.4 Loans and Borrowings
	After initial recognition, trade and other payables and construction contract retention creditors are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.

1.17.4 Trade and Other Payables
	Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

	Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well through the amortisation
schedule.

1.18 Inventories
	Inventories comprise assets held for sale, consumption or distribution during the ordinary course of stadium business. Inventories are
initially recognised at cost. Cost generally refers to the purchase price, plus taxes (other than VAT), transport costs and any other direct
costs in bringing the inventories to their current location and condition.
	Where inventory is manufactured, constructed or produced, the cost includes the cost of labour, materials and overheads used during
the manufacturing process.
	Where inventory is acquired by the entity for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost is measured at its
fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent Measurement
	Inventories, consisting of consumable stores, raw materials and finished goods (FG), are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value unless they are to be distributed at no or nominal charge, in which case they are measured at the lower of cost and
current replacement cost. The basis of determining cost is first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for all inventory categories. Redundant and
slow-moving inventories are identified and written down from cost to net realisable value with regard to their estimated economic or
realisable values.
	An impairment provision for the write down of inventory is maintained in lieu of obsolete inventory. The level of the impairment provision
for obsolete inventory is the value equivalent to the value of inventory assessed as obsolete at financial year-end. Differences arising on
the valuation of inventory are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance in the year in which they arose. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories arising from an increase in net realisable value or current replacement cost is recognised as a
reduction of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
	The carrying amount of inventories is recognised as an expense in the period that the inventory was sold, distributed, written off or
consumed, unless that cost qualifies for capitalisation to the cost of another asset.
1.19 Impairment of Financial Assets
The entity assesses at each statement of financial position date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
1.20 Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
1.20.1 Financial Assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:
•	The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or the entity retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset,
or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass through”
arrangement; and either
		 (a) The entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
		 (b) Has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
1.20.2 Financial Liabilities
	Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The entity determines the classification of its
financial liabilities at initial recognition.
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1.21 Cash and Cash Equivalents
	Cash includes cash on hand and with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, liquid investments that are held with registered banking
institutions with maturities of three months or less and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Cash in the statement of
financial position comprises of cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.
1.22 Provisions and Contingencies
	A provision is recognised when the entity has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event and it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
	The amount recognised as a provision shall be the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the
reporting date (for example in the case of obligations for the rehabilitation of land). The impact of the periodic unwinding of the discount
is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance as a finance cost. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions
are discounted using a rate that reflects the risk of the liability.
	Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that there will
be an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.
	Future events that may affect the amount required to settle an obligation are reflected in the provision where there is sufficient objective
evidence that they will occur. Gains from the expected disposal of assets are not taken into account in measuring a provision. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses. The present obligation under an onerous contract is recognised and measured as a
provision.
	With respect to litigation and claims against the entity, the entity’s Legal Counsel assesses the list of claims against the entity on an
annual basis. The entity recognises a provision for all claims/cases for which the outflow of economic resources is probable and the
amount can be reliably estimated.
After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised are subsequently measured at the higher of:
• The amount that would be recognised as a provision; and
• The amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised but disclosed in the annual financial statements.
1.23 Revenue
1.23.1 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
	Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase
in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.
	An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives
approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.
	Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s
length transaction.
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Measurement
	Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding indirect taxes, rebates and discounts.
Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:
• The entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• 	The entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over
the goods sold;
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
Rendering of Services
	When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction
is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be
estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;
• The stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
• The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.
	When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised on a straight line
basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents the stage of completion.
	When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed until the significant act is
executed. When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.
Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date.
Interest
	Interest income is recognised in surplus or deficit on a time proportionate basis, using the effective interest method (i.e. based on the
effective interest rate of the individual investments).
1.23.2 Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
Non-exchange transactions are defined as transactions where the entity receives value from another entity without directly giving
approximately equal value in exchange.
Recognition of Revenue
Revenue from non-exchange transactions is generally recognised to the extent that the related receipt or receivable qualifies for
recognition as an asset and there is no liability to repay the amount.
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1.24 Value Added Tax
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Value Added Tax except:
•	Where the Value Added Tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from taxation authority, in which case VAT
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of Value Added Tax included.
The entity accounts for Value Added Tax on the invoice basis.
	The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of trade and other receivables or trade
and other payables in the statement of financial position.
1.25 Principle Agent Transactions
	The MBDA was appointed by it’s parent municipality NMBM to act as it’s agent in the management of the NMB Stadium operations. As
part of it’s custodial responsibilities the agency is responsible for the total operations in terms of event, financial and risk management,
and to ensure that this facility becomes more sustainable over the longer term.
	The agency has contracted additional staff with the relevant experience to manage this operations with oversight and control of the
agency’s senior management.
1.26 Unspent Conditional Grants
	Unutilised project funding is reflected on the Statement of Financial Position as a Current Liability - Unspent Conditional Grants. The
cash received is invested until it is utilised.
1.27 Comparative Information
Current Year Comparatives
In accordance with GRAP 1 and 24, the Budget information has been presented on the face of the Statement of Financial Performance
in these Annual Financial Statements.
Prior Year Comparatives
	When the presentation or classification of items in the Annual Financial Statements are amended, prior period comparative amounts are
reclassified and restated. Where accounting errors have been identified in the current year, the correction is made retrospectively as far
as is practicable and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly.
	Where there has been a change in accounting policy in the current year and the standards require retrospective adjustment, the
adjustment is made retrospectively as far as is practicable and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly.
	The nature and reasons for the reclassifications and restatements are disclosed in Note 27 and 28 to the Annual Financial Statements.
1.28 Taxation
The entity has received a tax exemption certificate from South African Revenue Services.

Recognition of Assets
	An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction that meets the definition of an asset is recognised as an asset when it is
probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset will flow to the entity and the fair value of the
asset can be measured reliably. The asset is recognised as revenue, except to the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of
the same inflow. A present obligation arising from a non-exchange transaction that meets the definition of a liability will be recognised
as a liability when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made.

1.29 Operating Leases
As Lessee
Recognition
	Assets subject to operating leases, i.e. those leases where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to
the lessee through the lease, are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. Lease payments under an operating lease are
recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance, on a straight line basis over the lease term. To the extent that the
straight-lined lease payments differ from the actual lease payments the difference is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as
either lease payments in advance (operating lease asset) or lease payments payable (operating lease liability) as the case may be.

	Grants, transfers or donations received or receivable are recognised when the resources that have been transferred meet the criteria for
recognition as an asset and there is no corresponding liability in respect of related conditions. Where the grant, transfer or donation has
been received but the entity has not met the related conditions that would entitle it to the revenue, a liability is recognised.

Measurement
	The resulting asset and/or liability is measured as the undiscounted difference between the straight-line lease payments and the
contractual lease payments.

Measurement of Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
Revenue from a non-exchange transaction shall be measured at the amount of the increase in net assets, recognised by the entity.
Expenditure from Non-exchange Transactions
	The accounting policy for expenditure arising from non-exchange transactions is similar to policy for non-exchange revenue. Expenditure
from non-exchange transactions is recognised when the resources have been transferred to the beneficiaries. A corresponding asset
is raised to the extent that conditions attached to the expenditure have not been met. The asset is transferred to the Statement of
Financial Performance once the conditions are met.
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	The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date,
namely whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right
to use the asset.
Derecognition
	The operating lease liability is derecognised when the entity’s obligation to settle the liability is extinguished. The operating lease asset is
derecognised when the entity no longer anticipates economic benefits to flow from the asset.
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As Lessor
The entity presents assets subject to operating leases in its Statement of Financial Position according to the nature of the asset.
	Lease revenue from operating leases is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred
by the entity in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as
expenses over the lease term on the same basis as the lease revenue.
	The depreciation policy for depreciable leased assets is consistent with the entity’s normal depreciation policy for similar assets, and
depreciation is calculated in accordance with the Standards of GRAP on Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets.
Recognition
	For those leases classified as operating leases the asset subject to the lease is not derecognised and no lease receivable is recognised
at the inception of the lease. Lease payments received under an operating lease are recognised as income, in the Statement of Financial
Performance, on a straight-line basis over the lease period.
	The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date,
namely, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right
to use the asset.
Measurement
	Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. The difference between
the straight-lined lease payments and the contractual lease payments are recognised as either an operating lease asset or operating
lease liability. An operating lease liability is raised to the extent that lease payments are received in advance (i.e. the straight-line lease
payments are more than the contractual lease payments). The operating lease asset and/or operating lease liability are measured as the
undiscounted difference between the straight-line lease receipts and the contractual lease receipts.
Derecognition
	Operating lease liabilities are derecognised when the entity’s obligation to provide economic benefits or service potential under the lease
agreement expires. Operating lease assets are derecognised when the entity’s right to the underlying cash flows expire or the entity no
longer expects economic benefits to flow from the operating lease asset.
1.30 Employee Benefits
Recognition and Measurement
Short Term Employee Benefits
	Remuneration to employees is recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial Performance as services are rendered, except for
non-accumulating benefits, which are recognised when the specific event occurs.
The costs of all short-term employee benefits, such as leave pay, are recognised in the period the employee renders the related service.
Short-term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis.
Short Term Compensated Absences
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as follows:
Accumulating compensated absence:
• When employees render services that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences; and
Non-accumulating absences:
• When absences occur.
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they are still in the service of the entity, or not.
	The policy of the company is to provide retirement benefits for all its employees. The company has a defined contribution plan. Current
contributions to the retirement benefit plan operated for employees are charged against the income in the period to which they relate.
Long Service Awards
	Employees receive the monetary award in recognition for continuous service at the completion of certain milestone periods of service.
In addition employees also receive a once off gift certificate who’s value is dependant of the number of years of service. The award is
included in the employee’s salary in the month of the service anniversary.
1.31 Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets
Recognition
	The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. Where any such indication
exists, the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount (or recoverable service amount in the case of non-cash-generating assets), the asset is considered impaired and is written down
to its recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount). An asset’s recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) is the higher
of the fair value less costs to sell, and the value-in-use of the asset.
	The entity classifies the asset/identifiable group of assets as cash-generating if the key purpose of such asset/group of assets is to
derive a commercial return from continuing use, and are independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. The
entity will classify all other assets that do not meet the definition of cash-generating assets/group of assets as non-cash generating
assets.
Measurement
	An asset’s recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs
to sell and its value-in-use. This recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) is determined for individual assets, unless those
individual assets are part of a larger cash-generating unit, in which case the recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) is
determined for the whole cash-generating unit.
	An asset is part of a cash-generating unit where that asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or group of assets.
	In determining the recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) of an asset the entity evaluates the assets to determine whether
the assets are cash generating assets or non-cash generating assets.
For cash generating assets, the value in use is determined as a function of the discounted future cash flows from the asset.
Where the asset is a non-cash generating asset, the value in use is determined through one of the following approaches:
• 	Depreciated replacement cost approach: The current replacement cost of the asset is used as the basis for this value. This current
replacement cost is depreciated for a period equal to the period that the asset has been in use so that the final depreciated
replacement cost is representative of the age of the asset.
• 	Restoration cost approach: The present value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined by subtracting the
estimated restoration cost of the asset from the current cost of replacing the remaining service potential of the asset before
impairment.
• 	Service units approach: The present value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined by reducing the current cost of
the remaining service potential of the asset before impairment, to conform to the reduced number of service units expected from the
asset in its impaired state.
The decision as to which approach to use is dependent on the nature of the identified impairment.

Leave Pay Accrual/Provision
	The liability for accumulating compensated absences is based on the total amount of leave days accumulated by employees at reporting
date and on the total remuneration package of the employees.

	In assessing value-in-use for cash-generating assets, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair
value less costs to sell, other fair value indicators are used.

Bonus Incentive and Performance Related Payments
	The entity recognises the expected cost of performance bonus when, and only when, it has a present legal or constructive obligation to
make such payments, as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

	Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

	A provision in respect of the liability relating to the anticipated costs of performance bonuses payable to management is raised once
the timing and amount of such provision can be reliably determined. The provision is based on the performance of each member
of management against the performance scorecard set and agreed upon for each financial year. If on assessment of the respective
member of management it is decided that a bonus will be paid out, the manager is entitled to receive this bonus irrespective of whether
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	An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the entity makes an estimate of the assets or cash generating unit’s
recoverable amount.
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Reversal of Impairment Losses
	A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does
not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
The reversal of an impairment loss for an asset is recognised immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance.
1.32 Reporting Foreign Currency Transactions in the Functional Currency
Initial Recognition
A foreign currency transaction shall be recorded, on initial recognition in the functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.
Reporting at Subsequent Reporting Dates
At each reporting date:
(a) Foreign currency monetary items shall be translated using the closing rate;
(b) Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency shall be translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction; and
(c) Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency shall be translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined.
Recognition of Exchange Differences
	Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which
they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous financial statements shall be recognised in surplus or deficit in
the period in which they arise.
1.33 Events after the Reporting Date
	Events after the reporting date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date and the date
when the Annual Financial Statements are authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:
• Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting date); and
• Those that is indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting date).
Adjusting Events after Reporting Date
The entity adjusts the amounts recognised in the Annual Financial Statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date.
Non-adjusting Events after the Reporting Date
	The entity does not adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect non-adjusting events after the reporting date.
The entity discloses the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate cannot be made in
respect of all material non-adjusting events, where non-disclosure could influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
the Annual Financial Statements.
1.34 Impairment
Impairment of Cash Generating Units
	In assessing whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, an entity shall consider, as a minimum, the following
indications:
External Sources of Information
(a)	During the period, an asset’s market value has declined significantly more than would be expected as a result of the passage of time
or normal use.
(b)	Significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity have taken place during the period, or will take place in the near future, in the
technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the entity operates or in the market to which an asset is dedicated.
(c)	Market interest rates or other market rates of return on investments have increased during the period, and those increases are likely
to affect the discount rate used in calculating an asset’s value in use and decrease the asset’s recoverable amount materially.
Internal Sources of Information
(a) Evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset.
(b)	Significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity have taken place during the period, or are expected to take place in the
near future, in the extent to which, or manner in which, an asset is used or is expected to be used. These changes include the asset
becoming idle, plans to discontinue or restructure the operation to which an asset belongs, plans to dispose of an asset before the
previously expected date, and reassessing the useful life of an asset as finite rather than indefinite.
(c) A decision to halt the construction of the asset before it is complete or in a usable condition.
(d)	Evidence is available from internal reporting that indicates that the economic performance of an asset is, or will be, worse than
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expected.
Impairment of Non-cash Generating Units
	In assessing whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, an entity shall consider, as a minimum, the following
indications:
External Sources of Information
(a) Cessation, or near cessation, of the demand or need for services provided by the asset.
(b) S
 ignificant long-term changes with an adverse effect on the entity have taken place during the period or will take place in the near
future, in the technological, legal or government policy environment in which the entity operates.
Internal Sources of information
(a) Evidence is available of physical damage of an asset.
(b) S
 ignificant long-term changes with an adverse effect on the entity have taken place during the period, or are expected to take place
in the near future, in the extent to which, or manner in which, an asset is used or is expected to be used. These changes include the
asset becoming idle, plans to discontinue or restructure the operation to which an asset belongs, or plans to dispose of an asset
before the previously expected date.
(c) A decision to halt the construction of the asset before it is complete or in a usable condition.
(d) E
 vidence is available from internal reporting that indicates that the service performance of an asset is, or will be, significantly worse
than expected.
1.35 Statements in Issue but not yet Adopted
	The following revised and newly approved Standards of GRAP have been approved and issued by the Accounting Standards Board but
only become effective in the future or have not been given an effective date by the Minister of Finance. The MBDA has not early-adopted
any new Standards or revised Standards of GRAP but has in some cases referred to them for guidance in developing appropriate
accounting policies in accordance with the requirements of Directive 5: Determining the GRAP Reporting Framework.
Standard of GRAP

Effective Date

GRAP 18 Standard of GRAP on Segment Reporting

Reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020

GRAP 34 Standard of GRAP on Separate Financial Statements

No effective date gazetted to date

GRAP 35 Standard of GRAP on Consolidated Financial Statements

No effective date gazetted to date

GRAP 36 Standard of GRAP on Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

No effective date gazetted to date

GRAP 37 Standard of GRAP on Joint Arrangements

No effective date gazetted to date

GRAP 38 Standard of GRAP on Disclosure of Interest in other Entities

No effective date gazetted to date

GRAP 110 Standard of GRAP on Living and Non-living Resources

Reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020

GRAP 20 – Related Party Disclosures
	The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting entity’s financial statements contain the disclosures necessary to draw
attention to the possibility that its financial position and surplus or deficit may have been affected by the existence of related parties
and by transactions and outstanding balances with such parties. It is expected that adoption of this standard will result in additional
disclosures.
GRAP 32 – Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor
	This Standard applies to an asset used in a service concession arrangement for its entire economic life (a “whole-of-life” asset) if certain
conditions are met. It is expected that adoption of this standard will not be significant.
GRAP 34 – Separate Financial Statements
	The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in controlled entities, joint
ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate financial statements. It is expected that adoption of this standard will not be
significant.
GRAP 35 – Consolidated Financial Statements
	The objective of this Standard is to establish principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when
an entity controls one or more other entities. It is expected that adoption of this standard will not be significant.
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GRAP 36 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
	The objective of this Standard is to establish principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when
an entity has an investment in one or more other entities. It is expected that adoption of this standard will not be significant.
GRAP 37 – Joint Arrangements
	The objective of this Standard is to establish principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when
an entity has an investment in one or more other entities. It is expected that adoption of this standard will not be significant.
GRAP 38 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
The objective of this Standard is to require an entity to disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate:
(a) The nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in controlled entities, unconsolidated controlled entities, joint arrangements and
associates, and structured entities that are not consolidated; and
(b) The effects of those interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows.
GRAP 108 – Statutory Receivables
	This standard deals with receivables that arise from legislation, supporting regulations or similar means and require settlement by
another entity in cash or another financial asset. It is expected that adoption of this standard will not be significant.
GRAP 109 – Accounting by Principals and Agents
	This standard deals with principles to be used by an entity to assess whether it is party to a principal-agent arrangement, and whether it
is a principal or an agent in undertaking transactions in terms of such an arrangement. It is expected that adoption of this standard will
not be significant.
GRAP 110 – Living and Non-living Resources
	This standard deals with living resources that undergo biological transformation and non-living resources that occur naturally and have
not been extracted. It is expected that this standard will not be applicable to the entity as we are not dealing with these resources
currently.
INTERPRETATIONS
	The following interpretations have been approved and issued by the Accounting Standards Board but only become effective in the future
or have not been given an effective date by the Minister of Finance. These interpretations are expected to have an insignificant impact
on the financial statements since they generally reflect the interpretation and principles already established under GRAP.
IGRAP 17 – Service Concession Arrangements where a Grantor Controls a Significant Residual Interest in an Asset
	The interpretation provides guidance to the grantor where it has entered into a service concession arrangement. It is expected that
adoption of this interpretation will not be significant.
IGRAP 18 – Recognition and Derecognition of Land
	This interpretation provides guidance on when an entity should recognize and derecognise land as an asset in its financial statements
based on “control”. It also considers joint control of land by more than one entity. It is expected that adoption of this interpretation will
result in additional disclosures.
Standard Number

Standard Name

Effective Date (if applicable)

IGRAP 20

Accounting for Adjustments to Revenue

Reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2019

IGRAP 19 – Liabilities to Pay Levies
	The interpretation provides guidance on when to recognize liabilities to pay levies, i.e. when the activity that triggers the payment of a
liability occurs. It is expected that adoption of this interpretation will not be significant, or none.
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Figures in Rand

2020

2019

57 332

45 173

5 194 288

3 549 575

37 610 045

6 032 448

1. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand
Bank Balances
Short-term Deposits
Main Bank Account

Current assets

972 614

970 290

43 834 280

10 597 485

43 834 280

10 597 485

Current liabilities

-

-

43 834 280

10 597 485

Cash on hand consists of petty cash.
The entity had the following bank accounts
Account Number/Description

Cashbook

Bank Account

30 June 2020

30 June 2019

30 June 2018

30 June 2020

30 June 2019

30 June 2018

Account Number - 1084853833
(Nedbank, PE) - Primary Account

972 614

970 290

-41 426

972 614

970 290

-41 426

Account Number - 1084866064
(Nedbank, PE) - Current Account

37 892

1 447

210 578

37 892

1 447

210 578

Account Number - 1084866110
(Nedbank, PE) - Current Account

-

-

-

-

-

-

Account Number - 1106700856
(Nedbank, PE) - Current Account

4 954 557

2 926 671

2 196

4 954 557

2 926 671

2 196

12 033

5 449 890

18 824

12 033

5 449 890

18 824

201 839

621 457

2 084 397

201 839

621 457

2 084 397

37 598 012

582 558

37 091 670

37 598 012

582 558

37 091 670

-

-

-

-

-

-

43 776 947

10 552 313

39 366 239

43 776 947

10 552 313

39 366 239

43 834 280

10 597 485

6 224 235

4 565 037

37 610 045

6 032 448

Account Number - 037881142189
(Nedbank, PE) - Call Account
Account Number - 1140185322
(Nedbank, PE) - Current Account
Account Number - 037881116285
(Nedbank, PE) - Call Account
Account Number - X021906134
(RMB, PE) - Call Account

Which are disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Current Accounts and cash on hand
Call Account Balances

All amounts of Cash and Cash Equivalents are available for use by the entity.
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Figures in Rand

2020

2019

Figures in Rand
5. Intangible Assets

2. Receivables from exchange transactions

2020

Trade Debtors - MBDA

38 529 599

29 666 332

Trade Debtors - NMB Stadium

30 256 176

34 093 824

Provision for Bad debts

-1 167 930

-710 761

-

46 963

55 984

420 600

-5 941 494

-5 629 870

61 732 335

57 887 089

5 941 494

5 629 870

67 673 829

63 516 958

Interest Receivable
Sub Lease Rental
Nelson Mandela Bay Stadium Loan Account
Transfer to Creditors

Computer Software

2019

Cost

Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
Value

682 063

-370 012

312 051

28 355 644

31 - 60 days

3 904

113 308

61 - 90 days

37 290 200

-604

Over 90 days

1 167 033

1 197 985

38 529 599

29 666 332

417 018

-345 303

71 714

Opening
Balance

Amortisation

Closing
Balance

Carrying
Value

-24 708

-370 012

312 051

Cost

Computer Software

Accumulated Amortisation

Opening
Balance

Additions

Disposals

Closing
Balance

417 018

265 045

-

682 063

-345 304

Opening
Balance

Amortisation

Closing
Balance

Carrying
Value

-326 061

-19 243

-345 304

71 714

Reconciliation of Intangible Assets - 2019
Cost

68 463

Carrying
Value

Reconciliation of Intangible Assets - 2020

Trade debtors: Ageing - MBDA
Current (0 - 30 days)

Cost

Accumulated
Amortisation

Computer Software

Accumulated Amortisation

Opening
Balance

Additions

Disposals

Closing
Balance

377 218

39 800

-

417 018

Pledged as security
None of the intangible assets have been pledged as security.
There were no internally generated intangible assets.
There are no capital commitments against intangible assets.

Credit quality of receivables from exchange transactions
The credit quality of receivables from exchange transactions that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if
available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.

3. Receivables from non-exchange transactions

Note

Deposits

Transfer from Unspent grants

11

2 100

2 100

2 100

2 100

-

157 058

2 100

159 158

146 398

160 263

2 200

1 767

148 598

162 030

-

-

148 598

162 030

58 694

43 935

137

90

4. Inventory
Food and Beverage
Diesel

Less: Provision for Obsolete Stock

4.1 Inventory items on hand at year end (in quantities)
Food and Beverage (units)
Diesel (litres)

None of the inventory has been pledged as security.
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Figures in Rand

6. Property, Plant & Equipment

7. Heritage Assets
2020

2020

2019

Cost Accumulated
Depreciation

Carrying
Value

Cost Accumulated
Depreciation

1 814 776

-994 820

819 956

1 351 335

-771 435

579 901

Office Equipment

1 545 068

-792 567

752 501

1 350 764

-590 413

760 351

Containers
Land*
Building
Leasehold Improvements

743 094

-269 322

473 772

662 262

-213 276

448 986

1 800 629

-843 783

956 846

846 867

-572 206

274 661

111 220

-37 657

73 563

111 220

-30 921

80 300

12 947 149

-

12 947 149

12 947 149

-

12 947 149

4 436 262

-95 839

4 340 424

3 318 194

-3 846

3 314 348

0

-

0

1 180 753

-786 452

394 300

23 398 199

-3 033 988

20 364 211

21 768 544

-2 968 548

18 799 995

2019

Cost Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
Value

Computer Equipment

Motor Vehicles
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Furniture & Fittings

MBDA Annual Report 2019/2020

Heritage Assets

Carrying
Value

Cost Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
Value

250 500

-

250 500

250 500

-

250 500

250 500

-

250 500

250 500

-

250 500

Closing
Balance

Carrying
Value

Reconciliation of heritage assets - 2020
Cost
Opening
Balance
Heritage assets

Additions

Accumulated Depreciation
Disposals

Closing
Balance

Opening
Balance

Amortisation

250 500

-

-

250 500

-

-

-

250 500

250 500

-

-

250 500

-

-

-

250 500

Reconciliation of heritage assets - 2019
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2020

Cost

Cost

Accumulated Amortisation

Opening
Balance

Additions

Disposals

Closing
Balance

Opening
Balance

Depreciation

Disposal

Closing
Balance

Carrying
Value

Computer Equipment

1 351 335

463 441

-

1 814 776

-771 435

-223 385

-

-944 820

819 956

Office Equipment

1 350 764

194 304

-

1 545 068

-590 412

-202 375

219

-792 576

752 501

Furniture & Fittings

662 262

80 832

-

743 094

-213 276

-56 046

0

-269 322

473 772

Motor Vehicles

846 867

953 762

-

1 800 629

-572 206

-271 577

0

-843 783

956 846

Containers

111 220

-

-

111 220

-30 922

-6 737

1

-37 657

73 563

12 947 149

-

-

12 947 149

-

-

-

-

12 947 149

Building

3 318 194

1 118 069

-

4 436 262

-3 847

-91 992

0

-95 839

4 340 424

Leasehold Improvements

1 180 753

-

-1 180 752

0

-786 455

-235 923

1 022 378

-

0

21 768 544

2 810 407

-1 180 752

23 398 199

-2 968 552

-1 088 036

1 022 599

-3 033 988

20 364 210

Land*

Heritage assets

Accumulated Depreciation

Opening
Balance

Additions

Disposals

Closing
Balance

Opening
Balance

Amortisation

Closing
Balance

Carrying
Value

250 500

-

-

250 500

-

-

-

250 500

250 500

-

-

250 500

-

-

-

250 500

Pledged as security
None of the heritage assets have been pledged as security.
There are no capital commitments against heritage assets.
Heritage assets relate to historical paintings held by the entity
There was no indication of impairment of heritage assets

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2019
Cost

Accumulated Amortisation

Opening
Balance

Additions

Disposals

Closing
Balance

Opening
Balance

Depreciation

Disposal

Closing
Balance

Carrying
Value

Computer Equipment

1 050 860

317 004

-16 528

1 351 336

-582 142

-189 523

230

-771 435

579 901

Office Equipment

1 170 334

180 431

-

1 350 765

-442 713

-147 699

-

-590 412

760 353

Furniture & Fittings

405 451

256 811

-

662 262

-174 811

-38 465

-

-213 276

448 986

Motor Vehicles

657 367

189 500

-

846 867

-479 848

-92 358

-

-572 206

274 661

62 120

49 100

-

111 220

-26 912

-4 009

-

-30 922

80 298

9 737 224

3 209 924

-

12 947 148

-

-

-

-

12 947 147

-

3 318 194

-

3 318 194

-

-3 846

-

-3 847

3 314 347

Containers
Land*
Building
Leasehold Improvements

1 180 753

-

-

1 180 753

-550 303

-236 152

-

-786 455

394 298

14 264 109

7 520 964

-16 528

21 768 544

-2 256 729

-712 052

230

-2 968 550

18 799 995

Pledged as security
None of the property, plant and equipment has been pledged as security.
There are no capital commitments against property, plant and equipment.
*Located within the land is the ruins of the historic St Peters Church, these are valued at a carrying amount of zero

Mandela Bay Development Agency NPC | Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020 | Registration Number 2003/017900/08

Mandela Bay Development Agency NPC | Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020 | Registration Number 2003/017900/08

96

Audit Outcomes and Annual Financial Statements

ANNEXURE C

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Figures in Rand

2020

2019

8 539 848

11 046 170

Trade Creditors - NMB Stadium

4 961 407

2 897 531

400 927

376 298

2 782 195

1 980 683

-

795 727

1 136 964

1 849 384

13 458 423

7 337 272

31 279 765

26 283 065

Deferred Income
Contractor Retentions
NMBM Revenue due for surrender
Transfer to Debtors

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

5 941 494

5 629 870

37 221 259

31 912 935

37 136 552

30 074 173

84 707

1 838 762

37 221 259

31 912 935

Accrued expenses relates to expenditure that has been incurred, but for which no invoices have been received as yet. Trade payables relate to suppliers
payable for work done in the normal course of business. The MBDA continues to strive to pay its trade payables within 30 days. Based on the nature of the
implementation of capital projects, the bulk of the expenditure is incurred during the last quarter of the financial year with recognition of these trade payables at
year end. This results in a higher than normal trade payables balance at year end and is not necessarily a consistent balance throughout the year.

Figures in Rand

2020

2019

Opening
Balance

Additions

Utilised during
the year

Total

39 354

157 000

-179 687

16 667

Performance Bonuses

1 112 723

1 421 321

-1 112 723

1 421 321

Leave Pay

1 759 733

3 859 213

-1 747 411

3 871 535

2 911 811

5 437 534

-3 039 821

5 309 524

Restated
Opening
Balance

Additions

Utilised during
the year

Total

Reconciliation of provision - 2020
Workmen’s Compensation

Reconciliation of provision - 2019
Workmen’s Compensation
Performance Bonuses
Leave Pay

51 897

39 354

-51 897

39 354

248 854

1 112 723

-248 854

1 112 723

974 276

2 532 868

-1 747 411

1 759 733

1 275 028

3 684 945

-2 048 162

2 911 811

Performance Bonuses - These are payable contingent upon the achievement of KPIs per the performance contract for the management.
Leave Pay - Accrued leave pay relates leave days owed to staff members at the reporting date calculated based on the daily pay rate. This
is payable should employees terminate their employment.

9. Payable from non-exchange transactions
Deposits

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

97

10. Provisions

Trade Creditors - MBDA

Accrued expenses
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8. Payable from exchange transactions

Employee costs - 13th Cheque accrual

ANNEXURE C

197 428

186 221

197 428

186 221

197 428

186 221

-

-

197 428

186 221

Deposits relates to amounts paid over to the MBDA for Venue Hire.
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2020

2019

2020
Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC)
HURP/SPUU (KfW Funded)
SAASTA
Industrial Development Corporation
Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality (NMBM)

Opening
Balance

Additions

Utilised during
the year

Total

32 054

-

-

32 054

328 306

29 350 348

-26 987 174

2 691 480

-157 058

573 943

-23 295

393 591

1 959 049

-

-

1 959 049

42 286 012

107 007 784

-85 988 689

63 305 107

44 448 363

136 932 075

-112 999 158

68 381 280

Note 3

-

Total

68 381 280
Opening
Balance

Additions

Utilised during
the year

Total

32 054

-

-

32 054

-3 451 292

5 798 359

-1 795 123

551 944

Eskom

100 000

-

-100 000

-

SAASTA

178 177

-

-335 235

-157 058

1 959 049

-

-

1 959 049

61 792 733

92 858 244

-112 588 602

42 062 375

60 610 721

98 656 603

-114 818 960

44 448 365

Industrial Development Corporation
Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality (NMBM)
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2020

Transfer to debtors

157 058

Total

44 605 420

Transfers & subsidies - NMBM Operating Grants

71 547 047

66 302 070

Transfers & subsidies - NMBM Capital Grants

14 441 641

46 062 895

Transfers & subsidies - National Lottery Fund Receipts
Transfers & subsidies - NMBM Stadium Operating Grant
Transfers & subsidies - SAASTA Grants

-

-

48 640 065

33 140 695

23 295

335 234

Transfers & subsidies - Eskom

-

100 000

Transfers & subsidies - KfW Capital grant

23 374 001

855 899

Transfers & subsidies - KfW Operational

3 613 173

1 162 861

945 563

1 476 833

162 584 785

149 436 488

14 441 641

46 062 895

945 563

1 476 833

15 387 204

47 539 728

71 547 047

66 302 070

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services are as follows:
Transfers & subsidies - NMBM Capital Grants
Other Revenue - Stadium Liquor Income
Transfers & subsidies
This relates to funding received mainly from the parent municipality for the implementation of Capital Projects. The
NMBM receives capital assets from funds received by the MBDA for the implementation of projects, hence these are
classified as exchange transactions.
Other Revenue
This relates to income generated from the sale of liquor at the stadium. The MBDA is the liquor licence holder for liquor
trade at the stadium
The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions
are as follows:
Transfers & subsidies - NMBM Operating Grants
Transfers & subsidies - National Lottery Fund Receipts

NMBM unspent grants relates to capital project funding that was received in advance, the amount above relates to the unspent balance.
* - Refer to Note 3

Transfers & subsidies - NMBM Stadium Operating Grant

-

-

48 640 065

33 140 695

-

100 000

23 295

335 234

Transfers & subsidies - Eskom
Transfers & subsidies - SAASTA

12. VAT Receivable
VAT Receivable

1 874 849

7 369 476

1 874 849

7 369 476

VAT Receivable/Payable relates to the amount outstanding by/to SARS for Value Added Tax.

Transfers & subsidies - KfW Capital grant

23 374 001

855 899

Transfers & subsidies - KfW Operational

3 613 173

1 162 861

147 197 581

101 896 760

Transfers & subsidies - NMBM
This relates to funding received mainly from the parent municipality for the operational costs of the MBDA. These are
classified as nonexchange transactions.
Transfers & subsidies - KfW
This relates to funding received for the SPUU program funded by the German KfW bank in Helenvale. This relates to infrastructure and
social projects that have been implemented in the community. These are classified as non-exchange transactions.
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Restated

Other Revenue - Stadium Liquor Income

Transfer to debtors

HURP/SPUU (KfW Funded)

Figures in Rand
13. Revenue

11. Unspent grants

Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC)
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Figures in Rand

2019
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Figures in Rand

2020

2019

14. Other Income

Figures in Rand

2020

2019

15. Employee Related Costs (continued)

Finance Income
Interest Received

2 015 740

2 456 337

2019
Chief Executive Officer - Mr Ashraf Adam

Sundry Income
Lease Rental Income
Tender fee income

352 736

334 988

Chief Financial Officer - Ms Koliswa Mgijima - (i)

53 421

111 410

Acting Chief Financial Officer - Mr Zimbali Khwela - (ii)

Kiosk Rentals

49 890

68 103

Chief Financial Officer - Mr Ashwin Daya (iii)

Helenvale Resource Centre Income

24 063

31 844

Operations Executive - Ms Debbie Hendricks - (iv)

56 066

49 209

Acting Corporate Services Executive - Mr Luvuyo Bangazi - (v)

732 391

627 486

Public Toilet Fees
Tramways Event Space Rental
Discount Received
Science Centre Entrance Fees
Other

Acting Corporate Services Executive - Mr Ashwin Daya (vi)

Annual
Remuneration
including social
contributions

Car Allowance

Performance
Bonus

Acting
Allowance

Total

2 219 685

-

-

-

2 219 685

493 750

-

-

-

493 750

-

-

-

145 203

145 203

192 641

4 000

54 460

15 689

266 790

1 057 446

-

-

223 918

1 281 364

-

-

-

185 688

185 688

-

-

-

8 283

8 283

1 119 713

24 000

50 000

-

1 193 713

-

-

Stadium Manager - Mr Mpho Mokonyama

68 432

85 158

976 478

18 000

-

1 228 715

2 223 193

200 937

72 347

Compliance Executive/ Chief Risk Officer Mr Ashwin Daya - (vii)

1 537 936

1 380 546

Company Secretary - Mr Mbulelo Matiwane

871 711

-

37 500

-

909 211

3 553 676

3 836 883

6 931 424

46 000

141 960

1 807 496

8 926 880

2020

2019

366 000

310 000

15. Employee Related Costs

16. Remuneration of Directors

Salaries and Wages

25 497 178

22 301 729

Social Contributions

6 336 672

5 309 962

48 000

70 000

Adrian John Faulkner Gardiner (resigned 30 Sept 2019)
Renganayagee Kisten (resigned 30 Sept 2019)

Car allowances
Long Service Bonus

56 804

38 573

Performance bonus

1 421 321

1 112 723

Leave Pay

1 488 305

227 843

605 263

522 465

35 453 543

29 583 295

Annual Bonus

Included in the employee costs are the following key management positions:
Annual
Remuneration
including social
contributions

Car Allowance

Acting
Allowance/
Gratuity
Payment

Total

Chief Executive Officer - Mr Ashraf Adam

2 225 507

-

-

-

2 225 507

Chief Financial Officer - Ms Koliswa Mgijima

1 702 199

-

-

-

1 702 199

Operations Executive - Ms Debbie Hendricks

1 710 275

-

51 199

-

1 761 474

Stadium Manager - Mr Mpho Mokonyama

1 247 129

24 000

62 042

-

1 333 171

Company Secretary - Mr Mbulelo Matiwane

1 069 726

-

-

-

1 069 726

7 954 836

24 000

113 241

-

8 092 077

2020

MBDA Annual Report 2019/2020
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Bonus
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Mputumi William Goduka (Chairperson)
Kasaven Govender *

-

-

15 000

57 500

28 500

105 500

114 000

27 500

Moabelo Michael Koenaite

49 500

27 500

Glenda Perumal

84 000

27 500

Nomnikelo Kondlo

Mandlakazi Ruth Skefile

142 000

27 500

Vuyani Galen Dyantyi

91 500

27 500

Mxolisi Moolman

65 000

27 500

Khwezi Gideon Ntshanyana

80 500

26 500

Bongani Gxilishe *

-

-

Rajesh Dana *

-

-

121 500

119 000

154 500

126 000

1 312 000

909 500

Sithole Mabi Mbanga
Masalamani Odayar
Total
* The mentioned Directors opted not claim for Directors Fees since the period of membership commenced.
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Equipment Lease & Rentals
Security costs
Office Decor & Fittings
Cleansing Costs
Facilities Maintenance Costs

2020

2019

103

Figures in Rand

2020

2019

19. Other Operating Costs
Advertising and Media Placement

155 215

816 020

Arts, Culture & Heritage activation

1 501 740

1 686 491

1 404 196

1 344 700

92 214

91 636

3 591 023

3 074 759

28 074

18 678

5 044 743

4 510 381

Bayworld Redevelopment

3 494 839

3 361 509

Covid-19 Relief Intervention Fund

13 655 089

12 401 662

18. Capital Projects Costs
MBDA Projects

MBDA Annual Report 2019/2020
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17. Contracted Services
IT Support & Computer Costs
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Athenaeum Club Operating Costs
Audit fees

32

Bank Charges
19.2

Corporate Social Investment

39 423 659

34 769 534

39 423 659

30 091
1 088 980

23 110

19 826

2 144 717

-

4 383 223

-

314 320

514 353

Directors Expenses

99 782

194 294

Education & Training

443 333

565 152

1 733 126

1 054 221

133 295

116 528

Electricity, Water & Rates
34 769 534

1 7 135
1 144 658

Entertainment
EPWP Expenses
Helenvale Resource Centre Operating Costs

-

185 719

1 305 481

1 654 198

Insurance

205 942

136 315

18.1 Capital Programme

Innovation / 4th Industrial Revolution projects

528 790

690 900

Baakens River Valley Programme

Iconic Landmarks Project

559 000

281 028

Legal Fees

454 300

223 590

CBD Port Elizabeth Programme

5 349 525

8 473 354

-

547 290

Helenvale SPUU FDFP Programme

23 574 993

5 107 709

Korsten / Schauderville Programme

1 643 767

10 452 341

New Brighton / Red Location Precinct Programme

3 137 393

11 798 207

Nelson Mandela Bay Stadium Precinct Programme

-

Uitenhage Programme

Legal Settlements

23

Marketing & Communications
Motor Vehicle Expenses

-

20 000

1 691 353

3 604 676

153 719

102 953

Narrow Gauge Project

-

16 748

2 038 198

National Lottery Grant Funded Costs

-

-

1 063 855

1 006 558

NMBM Counter Funding for KfW SPUU Programme

1 096 998

1 419 419

34 769 534

39 423 659

NMBM Stadium Expenditure

48 640 065

33 375 881

NMBM Stadium Liquor Expenditure

862 226

1 295 148

Office Cleaning & Safety

143 239

254 758

Postage & Courier

52 707

32 285

Printing & Stationery

156 140

246 333

Professional & Consultant Fees

685 586

856 359

Psycho Social Projects

261 055

-

Recruitment Costs

14 403

49 984

Refreshments

53 236

82 324

Rental

6 096

1 000

Repairs & Maintenance

554 697

990 005

Special Projects & Township Operating Costs

755 799

817 090

-

863 547

20 723

22 083

3 797 647

1 204 527

Research and Development Partnerships
Seminars, think tanks and conferences
SPUU Helenvale Projects Expenses
Staff Welfare
Strategic Spatial and Feasibility Studies

172 633

41 197

2 145 808

832 409

Subscriptions & Membership fees

26 740

3 397

Sundry Expenses

76 206

162 137

Telephone & Fax

183 051

145 457

-

6 682 013

Demolition of Telkom Park Stadium Project Costs
Travel & Accommodation
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19.1

603 245

332 828

77 300 539

62 712 264
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Figures in Rand

2020

2019

19.1 NMBM Stadium Expenditure by nature

Figures in Rand

2020

2019

2 039 997

7 039 995

-

1 891

158 155

-

1 112 744

731 295

21. Net cash flows from operating activities

Employee Related costs

15 149 234

14 044 590

Surplus/ (deficit)

Contracted Services

17 685 612

15 912 998

Adjustments for:

Capital Expenditure

2 374 117

2 339 148

COVID 19 related expenditure

1 707 786

-

17 042 678

10 524 327

53 959 426

42 821 063

Less: NMBM Revenue funded expenditure

-5 319 361

-9 445 182

Changes in working capital

Total

48 640 065

33 375 881

Increase/(Decrease) in provisions

2 397 713

1 636 782

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables from exchange transactions

5 308 323

-4 103 673

23 775 860

-19 456 591

11 207

40 642

-4 156 871

-2 209 904

157 058

3 294 234

5 494 627

-8 586 126

13 432

362 158

36 312 247

-21 249 296

1 144 658

1 088 980

1 144 658

1 088 980

Other Operating costs

19.2 Covid-19 Relief Intervention Fund

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Write-off of lease asset and deferred income
Depreciation

Increase/(Decrease) in Unspent Conditional Grants

Transfers and subsidies
Goods and services

3 750 000

-

633 223

-

4 383 223

-

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables from non-exchange transactions
Decrease /(Increase) in Receivables from exchange transactions
Decrease /(Increase) in Receivables from non-exchange transactions
Increase/(Decrease) in VAT

The Covid intervention fund was established in terms of the national state of disaster regulations. Under this fund
the MBDA provided support for covid prevention measures, medical equipment, social relief to vulnerable groups,
Stadium field hospital establishment and economic support for local arts. This was done through a combination of
transfers to partner non-profit organisations, in kind support and direct procurement.

Decrease /(Increase) in Inventory

20. Correction of prior period error

22. Auditor’s Fees

The prior year has been amended to account for prior period errors.
Below is a summary of the total effect that the prior period errors on the amounts previously disclosed in the annual
financial statements, followed by a description of each individual prior period error with the amounts involved.

External audit fees

19

20.1. Revenue
Audit corrections to Revenue in the prior year had been processed against exchange revenue, when they ought to have been
processed against Nonexchange Revenue
Balance as previously
reported

Correction of error
Restatement Amount

Restated Balance

46 286 532

-223 638

46 062 895

101 673 122

223 638

101 896 760

Statement of Financial Performance
Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions
Transfers and subsidies

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfers and subsidies

The note disclosure changes accordingly due to the impact of these changes
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2020

2019

Figures in Rand

2020

2019

23. Commitments

25. Risk Management

Approved and contracted for:

Financial risk management
The MBDA’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk and liquidity risk and market risk (e.g. currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash
flow interest rate risk and price risk).

Capital expenditure

52 725 326

40 108 286

52 725 326

40 108 286

-

-

-

-

52 725 326

40 108 286

Approved and not yet contracted for:
Capital expenditure

Total commitments

Liquidity risk
The MBDA’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The MBDA manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of
future commitments.
The table below analyses the MBDA’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within twelve months equal their
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

At 30 June 2020
Payables from exchange transactions

Operating leases - as lessee (expense)
- within one year
- within two to five years
- above five years

86 104

142 104

134 892

225 570

-

-

220 995

367 673

Payables from non-exchange transactions

At 30 June 2019
Payables from exchange transactions
Payables from non-exchange transactions

Operating leases - as lessor (income)
- within one year

55 056

166 110

- within two to five years

-

-

- above five years

-

-

55 056

166 110

Lease income relates to sub-letting of the Tramways building
Lease expense relates to lease of public toilets, office equipment, and the rental of office accommodation from the Metro
Commitment relates to capital projects implemented by the MBDA
Please refer to Note 26 for additional disclosures

Less than 1 year

Between 1
and 2 years

Between 2
and 5 years

Over 5 years

37 136 552

84 707

-

-

197 428

-

-

-

Less than 1 year

Between 1
and 2 years

Between 2
and 5 years

Over 5 years

30 074 173

1 838 762

-

-

186 221

-

-

-

Credit Risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and receivables. The MBDA only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit
standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.
Receivables comprise mainly of Grant Receivables from the parent municipality. Management evaluated credit risk relating to receivables on an ongoing
basis. If receivables are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of
the receivable, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by management.
Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:
Financial instrument

24. Contingent Liabilities
Contingent Liabilities

30 June 2020

30 June 2019

Cash and cash equivalents

43 834 280

10 597 485

Receivables from exchange transactions

67 673 829

63 516 958

-

-

Civil claim for vehicle damage on MBDA project

-

-

Labour claim for reinstatement of employees

-

-

Market Risk

-

-

Interest Rate Risk
As the MBDA has no significant interest-bearing assets, the MBDA’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates.

Nature of contingent liability

(All figures have been rounded to the nearest thousand Rand).

Analysis of contingent liability
Opening Balance
Settlement

19

Foreign Exchange Risk
The MBDA does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations and has limited exposure to foreign exchange risk.

-

Legal Fees

-

Unsettled amount

-

Closing Balance

-
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26. Going Concern
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on basis of the accounting policies applicable to a going concern. The basis presumes that funds will
be available to finance the future operations of the MBDA and that the realization of assets, settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments
will occur in the ordinary course of the business. In June 2020 the Council adopted the 2020/21 to 2022/23 Budget. This three-year Medium Term Revenue
and Expenditure Framework (MTREF) to support the on-going delivery of municipal services to residents reflected that the Budget was funded over the
three-year period.
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Figures in Rand

2020

2019

27. Events after the reporting date
The term of the Board of Directors was terminated on the 06th July 2020. As a result the entity has been operating without a Board.

Figures in Rand

2020

2019

30. Related Parties
Relationships

28. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Controlling entity

Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality

Other members of the group

None

Members of Key Management

Opening Balance

25 743

1 002 934

Incurred during the year

80 588

-

Chief Executive Officer

Mr Ashraf Adam

Condoned by the Board

-

-977 191

Chief Financial Officer

Ms Koliswa Mgijima

106 331

25 743

Operations Executive

Ms Debbie Hendricks

Stadium Manager

Mr Mpho Mokonyama

Company Secretary

Mr Mbulelo Matiwane

Mputumi William Goduka (Chairperson)

Non-Executive Director

Kasaven Govender

Non-Executive Director

Adrian John Faulkner Gardiner (resigned 30 Sept 2019)

Non-Executive Director

Renganayagee Kisten (resigned 30 Sept 2019)

Non-Executive Director

Bongani Gxilishe

Non-Executive Director

Rajesh Dana

Non-Executive Director

Sithole Mabi Mbanga

Non-Executive Director

Masalamani Odayar

Non-Executive Director

Nomnikelo Kondlo

Non-Executive Director

Moabelo Michael Koenaite (resigned 02 March 2020)

Non-Executive Director

Glenda Perumal

Non-Executive Director

Mandlakazi Ruth Skefile

Non-Executive Director

Vuyani Galen Dyantyi

Non-Executive Director

Mxolisi Moolman

Non-Executive Director

Khwezi Gideon Ntshanyana

Non-Executive Director

Closing Balance

Analysis of Current Year’s Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Incident

Disciplinary steps taken/criminal
proceedings

Advert for expired bid

Under investigation

Amount

Directors

6 996

Payment of fraudulent invoice

Investigation by Internal Audit finalised.

16 743

Late payment of PAYE

Under investigation

73 592

SHEQ services for subsequently cancelled
project

Investigation by Internal Audit finalised.

9 000
106 331

29. Irregular Expenditure
Opening Balance

382 482

2 654 311

Incurred during the year

80 981

18 063

Condoned by the Board

-

-2 289 892

Closing Balance

463 463

382 482

Analysis of Current Year’s Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Incident

Disciplinary steps taken/criminal
proceedings

Amount

Failure to follow a procurement process

Under investigation

52 539

Non-tax compliant supplier and no
deviation obtained

Under investigation

10 350

Receivables from related parties

Payments made after expiry of contract

Investigation by Internal Audit finalised.

97 964

Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality

Appointment of supplier who is in service of the
state

Investigation by Internal Audit finalised.

199 500

Appointment of suppliers who did not
make declarations

Under investigation

32 745

Procurement without an SCM Process

Investigation by Internal Audit finalised.

66 955

Award to suppliers based on unfair
functionality criteria (locality)

Under investigation

3 410
463 463

Related party balances

Note

2020

2019

2

66 894 620

61 667 327

8

14 108 593

7 455 894

11

63 305 107

42 062 375

13

134 628 753

145 729 297

2 322 422

14 748 054

Payables to related parties
Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality
Unspent grants from related parties
Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality
Income from related parties
Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality
Payments made to related parties
Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality
None of the related party balances have been impaired for doubtful debts
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2019

Figures in Rand

2020

31. Additional Disclosures in terms of the MFMA

32. Deviations from Supply Chain Management Processes

Audit Fees

Categories of deviation as per Regulation 36 of the MFMA

Current year fee
Amount paid - current year

1 144 658

1 088 980

-1 144 658

-1 088 980

-

-

9 882 450

8 110 592

-9 158 320

-8 110 592

724 130

-

PAYE, SDL and UIF
Current year fee
Amount paid - current year

A penalty and interest was levied for a late payment for 1 month

Amount paid - current year

5 261 606

4 478 422

-5 261 606

-4 478 422

-

-

2 548 182

2 801 220

-2 799 504

-2 711 106

-251 322

90 114

Medical Aid
Current year fee
Amount paid - current year

VAT
VAT receivable
VAT payable

997 054

2 482 247

-

-4 113 165

997 054

-1 450 690

All VAT returns were submitted by the due date throughout the year.
Please note that prior year sub-total for VAT has been updated by an amount of R-8,046,102 from the previous sub-total of R6,595,412 included in prior year
AFS. This does not affect the accuracy of the amount disclosed hence not considered a correction of an error.

2019

No. of instances

Amount

No. of instances

Amount

Regulation 36 (1)(a)(i) : In the case of an emergency

3

624 427

1

143 290

Regulation 36 (1)(a)(ii) : Goods or services are produced
or available from a single provider

5

262 790

14

459 769

Regulation 36 (1)(a)(iii) : Acquisition of special works of art
or historical objects where specifications are difficult to compile

-

-

3

611 528

Regulation 36 (1)(a)(v) : Exceptional case where it is impractical
or impossible to follow the official procurement

22

7 993 183

52

10 198 556

-

-

-

-

30

8 880 399

70

11 413 142

Regulation 36 (1)(b) : Ratification any minor breach
of the procurement processes

Pension Deductions
Current year fee

111

33. Awards made to a person whose close family members are in the service of the State
A municipal entity must disclose particulars of any award of more than R2000 to a person who is a spouse, child or parent of a person in the service of the
state, or has been in the service of the state in the previous twelve months, including:
(a) the name of that bidder
(b) the capacity in which that person is in the service of the state
(c) the amount of the award
Name of bidder

Capacity in which that person is in the service of the state

Amount of the award

Leap Entrepreneurial Development

Spouse of a director is in service of the state

R 4,252,750.00

Leap Entrepreneurial Development

Spouse of a director is in service of the state

Rates Based

Resonance Institute

Parent of a director is in service of the state

Rates Based
R 4,252,750.00

34. Budget Differences
Material differences between budget and actual amounts - MBDA
A - There was increased demand for rental of Tramways building not foreseen at mid-term
B - Interest was not anticipated to be high due to cashflow issues, however this was compensated using investment planning
C - This was low due to spending on the CAPEX budget being lower than anticipated
D - This was due to Covid 19 resulting in lower revenue
E - This was due to vacancies during the year
F - This was due to increased provision for doubtful debtors above 90 days outstanding
G - This relates to KfW funded projects. The budget was allocated only for site establishment with the rest of expenditure anticipated in the new year
H - Higher amount of cash was received, however receivable amounts have not been received as anticipated
I - The purchase of the property under PPE caused better than anticipated asset base
J - A large portion of the CAPEX expenditure occurs in the 4th quarter, causing higher than anticipated payables. This is also due to the stadium loan account
K - Higher than anticipated cash due to payment of grant problems being largely resolved
L - The entity had low CAPEX spend
M - This was not budgeted for
Material differences between budget and actual amounts - MBDA (Nelson Mandela Bay Stadium)
N - Stadium was closed and converted to a field hospital for COVID19, resulting in lower than anticipated revenue
O - Stadium was closed and converted to a field hospital for COVID19, resulting in lower than anticipated expenditure
P - Stadium was closed and converted to a field hospital for COVID19, resulting in lower than anticipated expenditure
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